
Page 1 of 2 
 

TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH      
115 US Highway 17 North, Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
www.surfsidebeach.org 
 (843) 913-6111     (843) 238-5432 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL 
Regular Meeting Agenda 

Council Chambers  Tuesday, November 12, 2013  6:30 p.m. 
  
 1.  CALL TO ORDER – Mayor Douglas F. Samples 
 
 2.   INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE - Father Ron Greiser, Church of the  
  Resurrection 
 
 3.   PUBLIC HEARING -  Pursuant to SC Code §6-29-520  to hear comments from the  
  public on the  proposed Town of Surfside Beach Comprehensive Plan 
 
 4. AGENDA APPROVAL 
 
 5.   MINUTES APPROVAL  
 
  A.  Workshop October 22, 2013 
  B. Regular Meeting October 22, 2013  

 
 6.  PUBLIC COMMENTS – Agenda Items Only. (3-minutes per speaker) 
  
 7. COMMUNICATIONS 
 
  A.   Employee Recognition, James Behrens, 5 years 
  B.   Department Reports 
   i.   Fire    
   ii.   Planning, Building & Zoning   
   iii.  Police    
  C.   Administrator’s Report  
   i. Update on Current Events 
   ii. Concurrence Items - Pier Open to Patrons during Winter Months  
      
     
   
  
 

PUBLIC NOTICE:  Notice of Public Hearing on Comprehensive Plan.  The Town  Council of the 
Town of Surfside Beach, SC will hold a Public Hearing at 6:30 PM on November 12, 2013 at the Town 
Council Chambers, 115 Hwy. 17 N. Surfside Beach, SC 29575 on the nine required elements of the 
comprehensive plan recommended by the Planning Commission for adoption by council pursuant to SC 
Code §6-29-530.  Copies of the documents to be considered are available for public inspection in the 
Planning, Building & Zoning Department located at 115 Hwy. 17 N. Surfside Beach, SC  29575 and on 
the Town Website at www.surfsidebeach.org. 
 

http://www.surfsidebeach.org/�


                Town of Surfside Beach Town Council Meeting 
                Town Council Chambers  Tuesday, November 12, 2013 
                Agenda, Continued 
_____________________________________________________________________________________________ 
 

Page 2 of 2 
 

 8.   BUSINESS 
 
  A. Second Readings of Ordinances 
   i.   #13-0764 to amend §§13-52, 13-57,13-60 & 13-61 Planning, Building 
    and Zoning Fees, Director Morris 
   ii. #13-0765 to accept Harbor Lights Roads into Town Road System,  
    Director Morris 
  B.   First Reading of Ordinances 
   i. #13-0766 to allow Docks on Town Lakes, Councilmember Kohlmann 
    and Councilmember Smith 
   ii. #13-0767 to adopt 2013 Comprehensive Plan, Director Morris 
   iii. #13-0768 to amend Flood Ordinance, Director Morris 
  C. Festival Promotions, Mike Shank, Owner – request to hold Turkey Trot annually 
  D. Senior Citizens Committee Recommendations, Administrator Fellner 
 
   9.   DISCUSSION – Any matters of concern or information to be discussed by Town   
  Council. 
 
  A. Parking Committee Workshop regarding Lanier Parking, Tuesday, November 26  
   at 5:00 p.m., Mayor Samples 
  B.   Leash Laws, Mayor Pro Tempore Mabry 
  C. Fire Department Fee Schedule, Chief Cimini 
 
   10.   PUBLIC COMMENTS – General Comments. (5-minutes per speaker) 
 
 11.   COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 
 12.   EXECUTIVE SESSION - Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(2) to discuss proposed   
  contractual arrangements and to discuss legal advice where legal advice relates to  
  multiple pending, threatened, or potential claims 
 
 13.   ADJOURNMENT 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 1 of 7 
 

  SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL WORKSHOP 1 
  Jointly with the STORMWATER COMMITTEE  2 
  OCTOBER 22, 2013  5:00 P.M. 3 
         TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 
 5 
 6 
 7 
 8 
 CALL TO ORDER.
 10 

   9 

 Mayor Samples called the workshop to order at 6:30 p.m.  Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tempore 11 
Mabry, and Councilmembers Dodge, Johnson, Smith, and Stevens were in attendance.  Councilmember 12 
Kohlmann was absent.  A Town Council quorum was present.  Staff present:  Town Administrator Fellner 13 
and Town Clerk Herrmann. 14 
 15 
 Stormwater Committee members present:  Chairman Elliott, Beck, Harth, Kohlmann, Mabry, and 16 
Meccia (arrived at 5:30 p.m.)  Member Harbin was absent.  A Stormwater Committee quorum was 17 
present.   18 
 19 
 Others Present:  Michelle LaRocco, Coastal Training Program Coordinator (CTP), North Inlet-20 
Winyah Bay (NI-WB) National Estuarine Research Reserve (NERR,) University of South Carolina, Baruch 21 
Marine Field Laboratory; Susan Libes, Ph.D. Coastal Waccamaw Stormwater Education Consortium and 22 
Professor of Marine Science and Chemistry, Coastal Carolina University, and Erick M. Smith, Ph.D. 23 
Research Assistant Professor, NI-WB NERR Research Coordinator, University of South Carolina, Baruch 24 
Marine Field Laboratory.    25 
 26 
 Mayor Samples thanked everyone for attending, and introduced the stormwater committee 27 
members.  He asked councilmembers to hold comments and questions until the presentation was 28 
completed, and then turned the floor over to Ms. LaRocco.   29 
 30 
 Ms. LaRocco introduced Drs. Libes and Smith and proceeded to explain that they were 31 
specifically asked to provide insight into the potential issues surrounding boating in the lakes.  She 32 
thanked the town for inviting them to share their information. Ms. LaRocco said her role as the CTP was 33 
to promote stewardship of coastal resources through science based community training. The research 34 
reserve is a core education provider of the Coastal Waccamaw Education Consortium.  Mr. Ben Powell, 35 
Assistant Forestry & Natural Resources, Clemson University Extension was unable to attend tonight, but 36 
he sent a written statement to the council. 37 
 38 
 Ms. LaRocco said they were asked to specifically respond to the question “what is in our ponds,” 39 
however, that was an extremely complex question.  In collaboration with the community questions were 40 
identified that might help council make its decision, which are: 41 
 42 

 Determine what was really in the town ponds 43 
 Will there be a human health risk by allowing boating in the ponds 44 
 Will allowing boating in the ponds interfere with the ponds’ function by increasing the erosion or 45 

sedimentation 46 
 Will allowing boating in the ponds interfere with the town’s responsibility to provide water quality 47 

protection 48 
 49 
 Dr. Smith said the information he knows about the town’s ponds is from two research projects 50 
that he had lead over the past couple of years.  The first project was a broad survey of water quality in 51 
stormwater retention ponds up and down the coast.  Four of the town’s ponds were included, which 52 
allowed comparisons to other similar ponds in the region.  A study of Dogwood and Withers Swash was 53 
being completed.  Withers Swash is located near 3rd Avenue South in Myrtle Beach.  Dr. Smith said the 54 
Dogwood Lake is a natural pond that was now used as a stormwater conveyance.  It was never 55 
engineered or designed to function as a stormwater retention pond, but is part of the Dogwood 56 



Town Council Workshop 
October 22, 2013 

Page 2 of 7 
 

watershed, which is why it was being compared to Withers Swash.  In the summer of 2010, 26 ponds 57 
were surveyed.  The four ponds in town that were surveyed were Floral, Magnolia, Dogwood, and Cherry.  58 
Dr. Smith said the link between nutrients, how productive the ponds were, and how algae grow was all 59 
connected.  If there were no algae, there was no life.  The growth rate of the algae had to be monitored, 60 
because that was the foundation of the pond life.  An overabundance of algae could cause dangerous 61 
phytoplankton.  Algaecides generally only lasted about two weeks.  The goal was to find the right 62 
balance.  He cited numerous statistics on nitrogen and phosphorus.  The indicators were that the town’s 63 
ponds were a bit high in some areas, but low in others.  The town’s ponds were on the high side of 64 
suspended solids that was mostly organic, because they were loaded with algae, except Dogwood Lake 65 
had more minerals washing into it.  Regardless of the season, Dogwood Lake was almost always much 66 
cleaner than other ponds in the watershed, which was good evidence that the pond was doing what it was 67 
supposed to do.  The ponds accumulate fluffy grain sediment.  One comment Dr. Smith made in regard to 68 
the boating issue was that you might not want to stir up the sediment.  His personal experience was that 69 
using a Jon boat with paddles did not stir the sediment, but when anchors were used, the sediment would 70 
fluff and disburse in the water when the anchors were raised.    71 
 72 
 Dr. Libes presented maps of the water sampling points and explained that samples in town were 73 
collected by volunteers that live in town:  Mr. Ken Harth, Mr. Al Beck, Mr. Ralph Magliette, and Mr. Jerry 74 
Strange.  Dr. Libes said thank you very much to the volunteers, and said the results of their work was 75 
being presented.  Recognizing that data is necessary upon which an assessment can be made to 76 
determine proper management was the impetus for starting the water sampling program, which helps to 77 
identify illicit discharges, i.e., discharges under the stormwater program are not allowed to occur.  When 78 
they are found, they are required to be cleaned.  Sampling is taken every other week; the data is 79 
delivered to the public works director very quickly, so that he can go into the field to follow up on any 80 
problems.  Dr. Libes said trends were detected of a long period of time based on the monitoring data.  81 
She also hoped the data would document how the water quality was improving as a result of the 82 
stormwater program enhancements that were in place.  The stormwater program was linked to the 83 
educational outreach opportunities.  Volunteers had business cards with information about the program, 84 
and she suggested the public speak with them when they saw them sampling water.  Water testing 85 
includes fecal bacteria, turbidity, salinity, nutrients, oxygen, pH, temperature, and cultural eutrophication 86 
(depletion of oxygen in water caused by decomposition and oxygen-depleting plant life resulting in harm 87 
to other organisms.)  The temperature affects the oxygen and pH levels.  Dr. Libes said as she 88 
understood it, the town’s lakes were not classified water bodies, so the Department of Health and 89 
Environment Control (DHEC) would not close them down.  But, she believed the DHEC guidelines should 90 
be kept in mind when council was determining how much body contact with the pond waters would be 91 
acceptable.  She summarized the volunteers’ testing results:  In 2010 there were 75 samples taken by the 92 
town volunteers.  The Geometric Mean (GM, acceptable level) was determined by DHEC. 93 
    94 

Myrtle Lake   E-coli Bacteria  GM 284  30% exceed GM, common  95 
   Oxygen         State Standard 5% below standards  96 
   Nitrogen    detected in 2013 97 
   Turbidity    medium value to none 98 
   pH Acidity        Median 7.1  11% high - usually during spring 99 
   Temperature    warmer temps in winter 100 
    101 
 102 
Dogwood Lake  E-coli Bacteria  GM 15  3% exceed GM, negligible   103 

    Oxygen         State Standard  21% below, but not hypoxic 104 
    Nitrogen       detected in 2013 105 
    Turbidity     medium value to none 106 
    pH Acidity        Median 7.1  7% high - usually during spring  107 
    Temperature    no comment 108 
 109 
 Dr. Libes said the samples are measured by drawing water in a bottle without disturbing the 110 
sediment.  There was no data regarding contents of the sediment, although there was considerable 111 
evidence that bacteria can survive and reproduce in sediment.  That might be worthy of consideration 112 



Town Council Workshop 
October 22, 2013 

Page 3 of 7 
 

when council determined how much motion they wished to allow in the ponds.  Dr. Libes said when 113 
bacteria counts exceed more than 10-percent above the GM, swimming warning notices were published.  114 
Myrtle Lake was measured at 15-percent, and 40-percent of the samples were above the GM warning 115 
threshold.  She said the high counts were caused by warm blooded animals and birds.  Dogwood Lake, 116 
however, very seldom exceeded the GM.  The two lakes had very different situations.  In terms of salinity, 117 
neither lake was tidal and had no correlation with e-coli.  In regards to oxygen levels, there were times 118 
when oxygen levels were very, very high.  She expected that algae growth precipitated that change, 119 
particularly in the spring when levels are down to 7-percent of the samples being low.  Nutrient loading 120 
problems causing cultural eutrophication might be more intense in Myrtle Lake than in Dogwood Lake.  121 
Dr. Libes said data supports that rain did not impact turbidity, but might impact erosion values.  The pH 122 
acidity levels tend to run higher in the spring, and she believed that was due to the algae growth and the 123 
way it extracts carbon dioxide.  There is evidence of fecal contamination in Myrtle Lake’s water; however, 124 
the water in Dogwood Lake has no fecal contamination.  Cultural eutrophication exists in both lakes; she 125 
recommended regular monitoring, as it was in the town’s best interest to minimize particles entering the 126 
ponds.  Dr. Libes said the proliferation of nutrient loading can lead to harmful algae blooms that create 127 
toxins that represent a human health risk by skin contact or consumption by humans or animals.  The 128 
water testing will eventually provide more data for educational purposes and to document the effects of 129 
efforts to keep the waters clean.  She encouraged citizens to clean up after their pets as another means 130 
of keeping the water clean. 131 
  132 
 Mayor Samples asked the clerk to read Mr. Powell’s statement into the record.  Ms. Herrmann 133 
read: 134 

 135 
 A statement in response to the question regarding the suitability of using the 136 
ponds in the Surfside Beach for boating… 137 
 138 
 It has been presented to me that the Town of Surfside Beach is considering an 139 
ordinance to allow residents to use the ponds/lakes within its jurisdiction for boating, with 140 
provisions limiting the types of boats allowable.  I was asked to participate in this 141 
discussion because of my experience in pond and lake management and firm 142 
understanding the complexities of managing surface water systems for multiple uses.  Let 143 
me be clear, I am an educator and not a regulator.  I intend through this statement to 144 
provide insight regarding recreational use of municipal waters. not to interpret law or 145 
regulations.  I apologize that I cannot be present at this meeting, but I have prepared this 146 
statement to provide my perspective on this situation. 147 
 148 
 Although the town’s codes refer to the lakes in Surfside Beach as stormwater 149 
ponds, they were not designed or constructed for this purpose.  They are not designed 150 
according to the engineered standards used for standard stormwater ponds.  They do not 151 
hold a predetermined treatment pool, nor are they constructed with a predetermined 152 
freeboard for capturing and moderating the flow of runoff.  Technically speaking, they are 153 
(mostly) embankment ponds constructed by damming or embanking naturals runs.  154 
Essentially, they are modified streams or swashes.  Their construction and design is not 155 
all that different from embankment ponds across the southeast that were constructed for 156 
a wide array of uses such as recreation, irrigation, fire suppression, watering livestock, 157 
aquaculture, municipal water supply, and many other uses.  Structurally speaking, they 158 
are suitable for recreational uses such as boating and fishing, but those uses are limited 159 
by the size of each pond.  They have adequate depth and access, at least in the case of 160 
the larger lakes such as Dogwood and the lake just upstream from Dogwood.  The main 161 
difference between these ponds and other embankments ponds used for recreation is the 162 
degree of development of the watershed. 163 
 164 
 Surfside is a relatively dense residential community and is almost completely 165 
built-out.  The watershed has a fairly large percentage of impervious cover and an ageing 166 
stormwater drainage system that has very few structural BMPs (best management 167 
practices) to capture sediment and control pollutants.  This means that runoff 168 



Town Council Workshop 
October 22, 2013 

Page 4 of 7 
 

(stormwater) flowing from the lots and streets has a significant effect on the water quality 169 
in the ponds.  Although the ponds are not designed as stormwater ponds, they are 170 
influenced greatly by runoff, and as a result, may be subject to water quality conditions 171 
that exceed the safe limits established by the State for recreational waters.  Pathogenic 172 
bacteria indicated by fecal coliforms counts are the most concerning of these water 173 
quality challenges in recreational waters.  We know already that Surfside has a history of 174 
high bacteria levels in its runoff and in its surf zone, and I think pollutant tracking work 175 
has shown that much of this contaminant is originating in runoff draining to the ponds are 176 
from the waterfowl using these ponds.  Dr. Libes can speak in more detail regarding 177 
water quality conditions in these systems.  This means that the ponds may have bacterial 178 
levels that exceed the state’s advisory threshold, especially during the warmer summer 179 
months when folks are most likely to be using the ponds.   180 
 181 
 The question then is, “Should the town restrict access to the ponds over 182 
concerns that users of the ponds may become exposed to water that may contain 183 
elevated levels of harmful bacteria?”  Of course, this is a similar concern to the beach 184 
and surf zone, which is already being used as a recreational resource and is known to 185 
have water quality problems.  It seems inconsistent to restrict boating in the lakes based 186 
on this reasoning, but not restrict folks from going swimming at the beach, too, because 187 
the conditions of the two systems are linked and bacteria levels may occasionally exceed 188 
acceptable levels in either system.   189 
 190 
 Setting water quality aside, there are several pros and cons to opening the ponds 191 
to boating access: 192 

 193 
Pros: 194 

 Improved Quality of Live for visitors/residents by adding a recreational 195 
opportunity 196 

 Increased appreciation for the condition of the ponds as more folks 197 
interact with these aquatic ecosystems 198 

 Potential revenue source if town allows for boat rentals/access fees or 199 
requires permits for access (Dogwood Lake is probably the only lake 200 
suitable for this type of use) 201 
 202 

Cons 203 
 Increased liability for illness, if waters exceed maximum allowable water 204 

quality conditions 205 
 Increased liability for drowning or injury 206 
 Increased potential for trespass or invasion of privacy 207 
 Potential overfishing or impacts to wildlife 208 
 Increased potential for introduction of invasive weeds 209 

  210 
 I take a different approach in my concern for allowing residents to use the Town’s 211 
ponds for recreation.  I think the ponds are suitable for boating and other recreational 212 
uses, but the town needs to know that it is assuming liability when it allows residents to 213 
access its property.  If the town chooses to open the ponds up for recreational use, then it 214 
is very similar to opening a new recreational or athletic park, and the town would need to 215 
take precautions to prevent death, injury, or illicit activities on its ponds just as it would for 216 
a town park or athletic facility.  This means the town would have to protect users by 217 
conducting such activities as maintaining clean, safe access points, monitoring water 218 
quality, maintaining healthy water or restricting access when water quality conditions 219 
exceed the state’s allowable thresholds, managing or eliminating waterfowl, and other 220 
human-wildlife conflicts, providing instructional signage, removing hazardous obstacles 221 
and debris, restricting access to dams or water control structures, protecting against 222 
trespass from the water onto private property, enforce litter laws and conduct litter clean-223 
ups, assess and maintain the fishery, if fishing is allowed, and so forth.  Essentially, this 224 



Town Council Workshop 
October 22, 2013 

Page 5 of 7 
 

means that the town will need to assume maintenance activities on the ponds that are as 225 
intense as in a recreational or athletic parks in order to avoid being negligent.  This is 226 
especially true, if the town charges for access or for rental equipment used for boating.  A 227 
lawyer familiar with public access laws could help inform the town of what it would need 228 
to do to avoid negligence and lawsuits in the event of an incident.  229 
 230 
 Many large cities allow these types of uses of the lakes and rivers within their 231 
limits, and they have similar or worse water quality challenges.  It can be a real benefit to 232 
the town and residents alike to allow boating; however, the assumption of liability for the 233 
well being of users of its property, as well as for the condition of the lakes is something 234 
the town must not take lightly.  As a result, most municipalities that have considered this 235 
type of use have been very explicit and detailed about the rules and expectations 236 
regarding boating.  If the Town of Surfside Beach chooses to allow boating on its lakes, 237 
then it needs to understand the level of liability it is assuming, prepare to maintain the 238 
lakes to minimize health concerns and accidents, and consult with other regulatory 239 
authorities such as the Department of Natural Resources regarding boating and fishing 240 
regulations and the Department of Health and Environmental Control regarding 241 
monitoring and mitigating water quality conditions for recreational uses.  The Town also 242 
should review thoroughly the rules, regulations, and penalties established by other 243 
townships that allow boating on municipal lakes. 244 
 245 
 This decision should not be taken lightly.  If an accident or mishap happens on 246 
land, people fall down.  If it happens on water, people may drown.  My final word is, “Do 247 
your homework.”  I suggest you speak with a lawyer regarding public access law and 248 
liability, speak with the state agencies with authority over boating laws and water quality 249 
standards, and review similar ordinances of other townships in order to craft an ordinance 250 
that increases opportunity to residents while providing ample protections to the town.   251 
 252 
 Sincerely, Ben Powell, Clemson Extension. 253 
 254 

 Mr. Stevens said Mr. Mike Battle, the town attorney, was asked for an opinion about the 255 
town’s liability in allowing paddle boating, etc. on the lakes.  Mr. Battle responded in an email 256 
message saying, “The first question deals with the increased potential liability for allowing 257 
recreational use of retention ponds.  The short answer is yes, it will increase the town’s exposure 258 
to liability.  The recreational use statute protects property owners who allow people who use the 259 
property free of charge for recreational uses.  However, the statute does not protect property 260 
owners who are found to be grossly negligent.  Gross negligent [sic] is a factual inquiry by the jury 261 
or the (**) fact.  Usually, risky rewards analysis, while there is some increased exposure to 262 
liability, most claims are thrown out for summary judgment, because most negligent [sic] is so 263 
difficult to prove.  If the town believes the benefit to the public outweighs the possible increase in 264 
risks, they can allow recreational use.  I do not have any information on how much allowing such 265 
a use would affect your liability premiums.  SCMIRF (South Carolina Municipal Insurance Risk 266 
and Financing Fund) alone can answer that question.”    267 
 268 
 Mr. Stevens asked if large rainfalls affected the water quality.  Dr. Libes said the rainfall 269 
was measured in 2013, and did not affect water quality at most testing sites, but there was not 270 
sufficient data to answer. 271 
 272 
 Mayor samples said one year did not establish a trend.  Dr. Libes said yes.   273 
 274 
 Mr. Smith said concerning the beaches, whether outflow pipes to push stormwater runoff 275 
way out into the ocean would correct beach problems.  Dr. Libes said testing was being done now 276 
at North Myrtle and Myrtle Beaches where outfall pipes were placed, but there was not yet 277 
sufficient data.  In another year, there should be sufficient data to answer that question.  In her 278 
opinion, BMP upstream to purify the runoff as much as possible should be used.  Mr. Smith asked 279 
if rain was recorded over the past few weeks when samples were taken.  Dr. Libes said the 280 



Town Council Workshop 
October 22, 2013 

Page 6 of 7 
 

town’s volunteers started keeping rain measurements in 2011 that were used when interpreting 281 
the monitoring data.  Dr. Libes thanked the volunteers, particularly Mr. and Mrs. Harth, for their 282 
consistent efforts to provide data.  She believed the fire station had a meteorology station, and 283 
she was trying to obtain its information.   284 
 285 
 Mr. Harth said Dogwood Lake was tested throughout 2012 and it was clean.  DHEC was 286 
posting contamination notices on the beach; it was one of the worst years the town had with 287 
DHEC.  There was something between the water coming out at Ocean Boulevard and where it 288 
entered the ocean that was contaminating the ocean.  There were comments that there was a 289 
dumpster with a hole leaking contaminations, but he did not know that for a fact.  Test samples at 290 
Ocean Boulevard were clean.  Now, when DHEC finds contamination, a sample is sent to Dr. 291 
Libes for analysis to determine whether contamination is, simply stated, animal, vegetable or 292 
mineral.  Since that system was implemented, there has only been one hit.  Mr. Harth said to 293 
answer Mr. Smith’s question, the water coming out of Dogwood Lake was clear.   294 
 295 
 Mr. Smith asked if Mr. Harth was aware of the Grand Strand Water pumping station near 296 
the lake.  Mr. Harth said the pumping station was next to Myrtle Lake, near 4th Avenue North, and 297 
reiterated that Dogwood Lake over the three years he’s tested has been clean.  Myrtle Lake, 298 
however, improved, but then started going down again. Mr. Harth said he would present the data 299 
at the stormwater committee meeting.  Mr. Smith said the pumping station he was referring to 300 
was at the outlet to the ocean by the condominiums.       301 

  302 
 Mr. Stevens concurred with Mr. Harth, as he was one of the volunteer water testers.  He 303 
remembered that Dogwood Lake was very clean in all the tests.  He said that the test results presented 304 
indicated that Dogwood Lake was clean and asked Dr. Libes, in her professional opinion, if Dogwood 305 
Lake was safe for boating.  Dr. Libes said there was no way to predict what the impact on water quality 306 
might be, if the lake was used for recreation.  The way things are right now, the water in Dogwood Lake is 307 
very clean with respect to bacteria, which is the only health risk that she could think of other than the 308 
possibility that harmful algae blooms might occur.  They did not measure for that, so she could not say.  309 
The ponds do have filamentous green algae on the surface, which is the type of algae that has the 310 
potential for toxins.  The other possible risk would be a fish kill due to reduced oxygen, which would be a 311 
health risk. 312 
 313 
 Mr. Stevens said Dr. Smith mentioned during his comments that stirring up sediment might cause 314 
a problem and asked him what the risk might be.  Dr. Smith reiterated his comment that his personal 315 
experience was that using a Jon boat with paddles did not stir the sediment, but when anchors were 316 
used, the sediment would fluff and disburse in the water when the anchors were raised.  Unless testing 317 
was performed, there was no way to predict whether stirring the sediment would be a concern. 318 
 319 
 Mr. Jerry Strange suggested that the TVA (Tennessee Valley Authority) be contacted for 320 
information as many of its lakes were used for recreation.  Dr. Smith said the TVA would not be a good 321 
comparison, because its lakes were very large and very deep. 322 
 323 
 Mr. Lonnie Hopkins asked if the aerator in Dogwood Lake increased the amount of oxygen in the 324 
water and if that affected the test samples.  Dr. Smith said that particular aerator drew water from the 325 
surface, which did not aerate the water nor did it stir the sediment.  In his opinion, it was purely aesthetic.         326 
Mr. Hopkins said rainfalls provided oxygen to the lakes, so they knew better samples would be taken.  327 
When the weather was dry, the readings were much different, so he wanted to see samples compared 328 
between dry and rainy seasons.  The lakes had not been dredged in over 20-years, and the sludge was 329 
knee deep.  Dr. Smith said the sludge was a collection of particles, largely from organic matter breaking 330 
down in the lake.  Mr. Hopkins said there was no reference to the NPDES (National Pollutant Discharge 331 
Elimination System) requirements in relation to the matter, which addresses sediment control.  He thought 332 
that should be addressed. 333 
 334 
 Mr. Ron Ott said some of the most embarrassing things are the warning signs posted on the 335 
beach.  The town lost 2,000 feet of beach, because will not sit within 200-feet of either side of the signs at 336 



Town Council Workshop 
October 22, 2013 

Page 7 of 7 
 

the swashes.  He believed the council’s number one goal should be to keep those signs off the beach.  337 
The easy way would be to pipe the stormwater out a couple of miles, but the professionals were here that 338 
understood the water and he said the town should find out what it had to do to clean the lakes so clean 339 
water was going into the ocean.  It would cost some money, but in his opinion, it would be well worth it in 340 
the end. 341 
 342 
 Mr. Stevens asked for an opinion of whether it would be safe for young children to use inner 343 
tubes on the ponds.  Dr. Smith said he would not advise that small children have direct contact with the 344 
pond waters, but he was comfortable allowing them to boat on the ponds. 345 
 346 
 Ms. LaRocco ended the presentation saying that Drs. Libes, Smith, and she were available to 347 
answer questions.  Their contact information would be available on the town website.  She encouraged 348 
everyone to complete the assessment forms and return them to her. 349 
 350 
 ADJOURNMENT.
 352 

   351 

 Mayor Samples declared the workshop adjourned at 6:18 p.m. 353 
 354 
      Prepared and submitted by, 355 
 356 
      _____________________________________________  357 
      Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 358 
 359 
Approved:  November 12, 2013 360 
 361 
 362 
____________________________________ 363 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 364 
         365 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 366 
Mary Beth Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore    Ann Dodge, Town Council    367 
 368 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 369 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 370 
 371 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 372 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 373 
 374 
 375 
Clerk’s Note:  This document constitutes minutes of the meeting that was audio taped.  These are 376 
detailed minutes documenting each member’s comments.  Appointments to hear audio tapes may be 377 
scheduled with the town clerk.  In accordance with FOIA, meeting notice and the agenda were distributed 378 
to local media and interested parties. The agenda was posted on the town website, the entry door at 379 
Town Council Chambers, and in the Town Hall reception area.  Meeting notice was also posted on the 380 
Town marquee.  Public Comments and Town Council Comments are transcribed as close to verbatim as 381 
possible.  When (**) is used a section of the tape is inaudible.      382 



 

Page 1 of 10 
 

  SURFSIDE BEACH TOWN COUNCIL  1 
  REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING MINUTES  2 
  OCTOBER 22, 2013  6:30 P.M. 3 
         TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 4 
 5 
 6 
 1.  CALL TO ORDER.
 8 

   7 

 Mayor Samples called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m.  Mayor Samples, Mayor Pro Tempore 9 
Mabry, and Councilmembers Dodge, Johnson, Smith, and Stevens were in attendance.  Councilmember 10 
Kohlmann was absent.  A quorum was present.  Others present:  Town Administrator Fellner; Finance 11 
Director King; Recreation Supervisor Ellis, and Town Clerk Herrmann.    12 
 13 
 2.  INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE.
 15 

   14 

 Pastor Mike King of South Strand Community Church gave the invocation.  Mayor Samples lead 16 
the Pledge. 17 
 18 
 3.  
 20 

AGENDA APPROVAL. 19 

 Mr. Smith moved to approve the agenda.  Mr. Johnson seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION 21 
CARRIED. 22 
 23 
 4.  
 25 

MINUTES APPROVAL. 24 

 Ms. Dodge moved to approve the minutes of the October 8, 2013 meeting as submitted.  Mr. 26 
Johnson seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 27 
 28 
 5.  
 30 

PUBLIC COMMENTS – Agenda Items (3 minutes.) 29 

 There were no public comments on agenda items. 31 
 32 
 6.  
 34 

COMMUNICATIONS. 33 

 A.  Department Reports. 35 
 36 
 i.  Finance. 37 
   38 
 Ms. King presented the written report, a copy of which is on file.  This quarter is the one during 39 
which the town earns its money strictly on its own, except for the Grand Strand Water & Sewer Authority 40 
franchise fee, which was paid monthly.  During this quarter the town relies on its permitting, parking, and 41 
fine monies.  All other franchise fees were paid quarterly.  The tourist season was June, July and August; 42 
however the June revenue was credited to the previous fiscal year.  Expenses will always exceed 43 
revenue during this period.  The next quarter will show franchise receipts that will offset the expenditures 44 
during this quarter.  Then property tax revenue will be received.  Ms. King said the explanation was given 45 
to help Town Council understand that while some figures seem out of balance, that in the end of the year 46 
they will wash out.  The town brought in $54,000 in property taxes this month.  General fund deposits 47 
were a little higher this year, because the amount to capital projects fund was reduced.  Business 48 
licensing was up $7,000; building permits were up $16,000 over last year.  Grand Strand Water & Sewer 49 
Authority franchise fee was paid.  Since Lanier was moved into the general fund, $112,000 year-to-date 50 
was received from Lanier.  The other monies used were transferred from other governmental funds to 51 
help general fund pay for services that it provides; those transfers amount to $160,000 for the month.  52 
The Municipal Association sent the town $117,000 last year in September, which was for a late payment 53 
from Allstate Insurance, who did not want to pay and finally settled.  This year the payment was received 54 
in June as normally scheduled.  Ms. King referred to page 2 saying that revenue was $505,000 and 55 
salary expenditures were $803,000, which were almost the same as last year.  The difference was 56 
because there are a few open positions.  Operating expenditures were $328,000 which is $26,000 more 57 
than last year, but the expenses from Lanier are now included in that total.  Lanier expenses were in 58 
hospitality funds last year.  Revenue was under expenses by $642,000 year-to-date, but that will be 59 
corrected as other monies are received in the upcoming cycles.  At this point, she was not concerned 60 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 2 of 10 
 

about the shortage.  The capital projects fund brings in 1 mil now instead of 5 mils, so it brought in 61 
$3,000, but $30,000 was spent.  Tax bills were sent October 1st; revenue will start coming in as taxes 62 
were paid.  Accommodations, local accommodations, and hospitality funds are the tourist related funds.  63 
Local accommodations and hospitality funds show a trend of more collections this year than last year.  64 
That would correlate to a larger amount from the State and she expects that it would be around $260,000.         65 
Accommodations expenses were $105,000; an additional police officer was added to accommodations, 66 
which accounts for the increase over last year.  The local accommodations fund was a pass through to 67 
the general fund.  Hospitality funds show revenue exceeding expenses by $228,000; meter revenue and 68 
the grounds expenses, which are about $55,000, are now in the general fund.  Overall, “the fund would 69 
be just fine.”  The pier fund now receives money from Lanier Parking; $40,000 year-to-date was received 70 
from Lanier Parking; there were offsetting expenses from Lanier, as well.  This month depreciation of the 71 
pier was booked.  Depreciation will be booked quarterly so the CAFR (Comprehensive Annual Financial 72 
Statement) does not show such a disparity.  If depreciation had not been booked, the pier would have 73 
made $144,000 this year versus $106,000 last year, which was wholly attributable to Lanier Parking 74 
income.  Interest expense payable to the general fund was usually due in October; she was unsure why it 75 
was paid in September last year.  Sanitation revenue was $28,000 more than last year.  Depreciation was 76 
also booked in sanitation to keep the account more accurate.  Sanitation made $93,000 last year; this 77 
year it made $116,000.  The Lanier Parking report was very detailed.  Key numbers were that Lanier has 78 
paid the town $129,000 for parking meters and pay stations this year.  For the entire season, the amount 79 
was $212,000.  The citation revenue was $23,000 for this quarter; for the season it was $33,000.  The 80 
total from Lanier was $246,000.  The town paid Lanier $41,000 for the quarter and $99,000 for the year.  81 
The net received from Lanier Parking for the season was $149,000.  The amount received for this fiscal 82 
year was $107,000.  The pier fund net income was $31,000 for this fiscal year; the general fund was 83 
$76,000.  Overall, $52,000 for the season was received in the pier fund, and $89,000 for the season in 84 
general fund, which totals $141,000 net to the town collected from Lanier Parking for the season.   85 
 86 
 Mr. Smith asked if the next to the last column on the right was Lanier Parking’s revenue budget.  87 
Ms. King said that was the net total of revenue minus expenses that Lanier anticipated charging the town.     88 
Mr. Smith asked if that number corresponded to the net revenue parking column.  Ms. King said it did.  89 
Mr. Smith asked if the money from Allstate accrued to last year.  Ms. King said that was a settlement 90 
payment from Allstate that was actually due in June 2012, and it was not paid until September 2012, 91 
which is why the amount was included in last year’s September statements.  To explain the anomaly, the 92 
difference in the two year’s numbers equal the amount paid by Allstate.  93 
 94 
 Mayor Samples pointed out that the net realized from Lanier was less than expected.  Ms. King 95 
said there is still money due for the month of October.   96 
 97 
 iii.  Public Works. 98 
 99 
 Ms. Fellner said Mr. Adair was attending and speaking at the 7th Annual South Carolina Recycling 100 
and Solid Waste Officials Conference in Columbia.  Ms. Fellner presented the written report, a copy of 101 
which is on file.  Of note, the household hazardous and e-waste drop off took place at public works from 102 
September 27th through September 29th; 4,580 pounds of paint and other types of hazardous wastes, 103 
along with 200-plus light bulbs were disposed of free of charge at the Horry County Solid Waste Authority.  104 
Creative Recycling removed all miscellaneous electronic waste on October 9th, and staff was waiting for 105 
its report on results.  There were ongoing street projects.  Mr. Adair secured $200,000 from the Horry 106 
County Transportation Committee (CTC) at its October meeting to advance street resurfacing initiatives 107 
throughout the town.  There were 102 new street signs ordered that will be installed throughout the town 108 
during the fall months.  Deck, seating, and landscaping upgrades continue on 16th Avenue North at 109 
Magnolia Lake outfall.  A new welcome sign has been delivered and will be installed at Melody Lane, 110 
hopefully, by the end of the week.  Crews in the grounds division seeded the fields at Huckabee Complex 111 
and Martin Park.  Other seeding was also done at the other public parks and lake front viewing areas.  112 
Drainage ditch improvements were completed at the Huckabee Complex.  That improvement was being 113 
monitored in accordance with rainfall to make sure it was properly graded and would drain correctly.  The 114 
fleet maintenance mechanic completed 66 repairs on town vehicles and equipment; 35 vehicles had 115 
preventive and scheduled maintenance performed.  Facilities crew assisted the police department with 116 
installation of the security camera at the various beach accesses.  New speakers were placed in council 117 
chambers; more details would be given in the administrator’s update.  118 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 3 of 10 
 

Hanging flower baskets were installed on the light poles at the pier parking lot; pansies were planted in 119 
the flower beds.  The rebid for the pier parking lot will be held on Friday, November 8th.  The bid for the 120 
replacement of the restaurant roof will be held on Friday, November 15th.  It was mentioned that the 121 
request for bids should be published more than once on SCBO (South Carolina Business Opportunities), 122 
but SCBO only allows one publication.  Subscribers receive the notice once, but may go back to past 123 
issues, if they want to reconsider submitting a bid.  Ms. Fellner said Mr. Adair included the north side 124 
drainage project scope in the written report as requested at the last meeting. 125 
 126 
 Mr. Smith asked where the CTC received its money and asked if it was property tax money; state 127 
money, or other monies.   128 
 129 
 Mayor Samples recollected that the county has $2.3 million in CTC funds this year, but he was 130 
unsure of the exact source. 131 
 132 
 Ms. Fellner did not know; she would find out and advise council at the next meeting. 133 
 134 
 Mr. Smith said they appreciated Mr. Adair securing those funds to pave the town’s roads.  Ms. 135 
Fellner said Mr. Adair has been able to obtain about $200,000 every year.   136 
 137 
 Mayor Samples said paving was occurring behind Dick’s Pawn Shop off 544.  He did not 138 
understand the county’s priority system, nor did he know if CTC money was being used.  Those who take 139 
that shortcut would enjoy a nice, smooth ride.  (Laughter.)  Mayor Samples asked if there was a schedule 140 
for the north side stormwater drainage projects.  Ms. Fellner said date was not set; she would ask Mr. 141 
Adair for an update for the next meeting.   142 
 143 
 ii.  Recreation. 144 
 145 
 Ms. Ellis presented the written report, a copy of which is on file.  The Skyhoundz Disc Contest 146 
was held Saturday, September 28th at Martin Field.  It was the first time the event was held there, and it 147 
was the largest event they ever had.  There were 20 canine competitors and about 100 spectators.  The 148 
Family Festival was held October 5th.  The weather was great; 142 vendors participated, which was about 149 
the same number as last year.  There was a total of $944 in town merchandise sold; $367 worth of 50th 150 
Anniversary merchandise sold.  All merchandise was available at town hall for sale.  Ms. Ellis thanked the 151 
fire and police departments for their help at the event.  Georgetown Hospital Community Health Division 152 
conducted the annual health fair on Friday, October 11th.  Walgreen’s Pharmacy administered flu shots.  153 
There were 27 employees and 12 individuals from the public for a total of 39 participants, which was 154 
much lower than last year.  Tuesday, October 29th is the last day for the Farmers Market this year.  It was 155 
a huge success and will begin again next May.  Dennis Seman of the Surfside Youth Sports Association 156 
official resigned.  Vice president Dan Flood has taken over until the board appoints someone to fill the 157 
open position, which should be done the first week in November.  Fall baseball ended last week.  They 158 
are already preparing for the 2014 season.  Registration will begin January 2, 2014 online.  The season 159 
will begin the last week in February and last through the last week in May.  Upcoming events include the 160 
Nathan Black 5K Race, Saturday, October 26 beginning at 8:00 in the pier parking lot; Veterans Day 161 
Service, Monday, November 11th at 2:00 p.m. at the Veterans Memorial, and the Turkey Trot, 162 
Thanksgiving Day, beginning at 8:00 a.m. at the pier parking lot.   163 
 164 
 Mayor Samples said the Family Festival was wonderful; outstanding.  It was a beautiful day, and 165 
it was a really nice event.   166 
 167 
 Mr. Smith asked what time the Turkey Trot started.  Ms. Ellis said 8:00 a.m.  Mr. Smith said he 168 
attended the health fair, and he was disappointed that only 27 employees took part in that.  It was such a 169 
good opportunity to get a free blood test, and he encouraged employees to really think about that.  He 170 
said it was not a difficult situation.  You walk in, hand them your paper work, and then they draw a little 171 
blood.  He also encouraged the public to participate next year to also attend.  Mr. Smith said the turnout 172 
this year was much lower, and he encouraged people to think about their health and participating. 173 
 174 
 Ms. Dodge commended Ms. Ellis and her staff for the Family Festival.  It was always great.  She 175 
thought this year was super.  They stayed at the festival most of the day.  Ms. Ellis said all the vendors 176 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 4 of 10 
 

were really pleased with the turnout and their sales totals, especially the food vendors.  Ms. Dodge said 177 
the bands were great, too.    178 
 179 
 C.  Administrator’s Report – Update on Current Events.
 181 

   180 

 Ms. Fellner reported that the 50th Anniversary commemorative magazine was proceeding on 182 
schedule.  Ad space sales to date were approximately $17,000.  Town Council was shown three 183 
proposed covers for the magazine and asked to choose the one it preferred.  The 50th Anniversary 184 
Committee recommended the plain cover showing the pier at sunrise.  The three covers showed: 185 
 186 

 The pier at sunrise 187 
 The pier in sunshine with a seagull walking the shore 188 
 The pier with three antique postcards across the bottom 189 

 190 
 Mr. Johnson and Mr. Smith liked the postcards.  Mayor Samples did not feel strongly about either 191 
one, but liked the sunrise.  Ms. Mabry preferred the committee’s recommendation.  After a lively, 192 
humorous discussion Town Council CONCURRED to use the cover with the post cards. 193 
 194 
 Mayor Samples asked if $17,000 in advertising sales was where the magazine should be.  He 195 
wanted to ensure that council was properly advised.  Ms. Fellner personally believed that sales should be 196 
much higher by now.  Unfortunately, Mr. Scott Head, the advertising sale manager at the Myrtle Beach 197 
Area Chamber of Commerce (Chamber), was not working on this project.  In the beginning of this project, 198 
the town was informed that Mr. Head and his staff would be selling the advertisements.  However, Ms. 199 
Kimberly Dolan was engaged to sell the advertisements, but she was not as experienced.  She met with 200 
Ms. Diana Green and Ms. Dolan to discuss the ad sales.  Ms. Fellner was assured that the Ms. Dolan 201 
would be mentored and trained to successfully sell ads.  One big issue was that the City of Myrtle Beach 202 
just published its 75th Anniversary book; many people bought large ads for that publication.  A number of 203 
strategies were discussed with Ms. Green and Ms. Dolan that should improve ad sales.  Ms. Dolan 204 
understands this was a different market that included businesses that might want smaller ads.   Ms. 205 
Fellner expressed concern, because that meeting was just held this past Monday.  A couple of email 206 
messages were received today from Ms. Green was meeting with Ms. Dolan to actively work on the ad 207 
sales. 208 
 209 
 Mayor Samples asked when the magazine was scheduled for production.  Ms. Fellner said the 210 
delivery schedule was January.  The ad sales were to continue through the end of October, but that date 211 
has already been moved.  Production starts with the cover, and as ads were submitted the publisher was 212 
working on the magazine.  Mayor Samples said if anyone felt differently, to please speak up, but he 213 
believed the situation should be monitored very closely so the town did not have to pay for the magazine 214 
that was should be self-supporting.  He recalled that the publication cost was $80,000-plus.  Ms. Fellner 215 
said that the cost was $60,000; she had downgraded the paper quality and made some other economies 216 
that would not make a difference in the overall feel and look of the magazine.  It would still be a classy 217 
magazine.  Mayor Samples said some monies were budgeted.  Ms. Fellner said there was more than 218 
enough money budgeted.  Mayor Samples reiterated that he wanted to ensure there were no financial 219 
surprises relating to the magazine.  It was a great project, but apparently accommodations taxes could 220 
not be used.  Ms. Fellner said that was correct.   221 
 222 
 Mr. Smith asked if many in-town local businesses were participating.  Ms. Fellner said no, even 223 
though a discount was offered, and ad sizes were reduced to one-eighth and one-sixteenth page that 224 
reduced costs by $200 to $300.  Mr. Smith asked if any local businesses bought ads.  Ms. Fellner said 225 
yes.  She was not confident that certain strategies were applied in sales and marketing, meaning not just 226 
making a phone call or an email message blast.  She was talking about going door-to-door, and handing 227 
the customer something that could be discussed; they were making sure that strategy would be applied. 228 
 229 
 Mayor Samples believed that was good, because during the Family Festival the owner of Fat 230 
Boys Golf Carts was totally unaware that ads were being sold for the magazine.  The commercial district 231 
could be easily covered by a sales representative and handouts given to the business community.  He 232 
was sure that once the business community knew about the commemorative magazine, they would want 233 
to be included.  Ms. Fellner said staff generated a list of pertinent information for all the businesses for the 234 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 5 of 10 
 

Chamber. In her opinion, the number of sales did not make sense, but they were trying to make 235 
corrections.  Hopefully, a better response will be reported next month.  Mayor Samples said Ms. Fellner 236 
should do what she needed to take care of the town. 237 
 238 
 Ms. Mabry was in a local shop when the sales representative came in to sell the advertisement.  239 
She was there probably 30 seconds.  Ms. Mabry said maybe she was just told to leave, but her concern 240 
was that not only was the town losing money, but it might be stopping someone from having an 241 
opportunity to advertise.  That was as important as receiving the money.  Ms. Mabry said really and truly, 242 
email message blasts do not work.  Two or three of those type messages were received a day, and 243 
normally, they were just deleted, because people were just not interested.  Face-to-face meetings were 244 
needed, and then additional visits to show them exactly what they would get.  She was surprised at the 245 
lack of advertising dollars that had come in.  Ms. Fellner agreed, and said she asked Grand Strand Media 246 
to produce two covers for the sales agent so they could show the quality of the magazine to potential 247 
customers.  There definitely will be a change in the sales strategy.         248 
    249 
 Ms. Fellner said the welcome sign that she mentioned in the public works report was completed 250 
and delivered.  It should be installed by the end of this week.  Mr. Stevens had offered to bring a plan to 251 
replace the side speakers in chambers, however, she asked Mr. Todd, the facilities supervisor, to check 252 
the existing speakers.  He found dry rot in the speakers and they were barely functioning.  New speakers 253 
were installed last week that were designed to handle the square footage of council chambers.  Ms. 254 
Fellner said she sat towards the back of chambers during the workshop and did not have a problem 255 
hearing the speakers.  Sound levels might need to be adjusted during the next few meetings, but the new 256 
speakers should effectively resolve the inaudibility issues.  The speakers were on sale; the package deal 257 
was $69 plus tax; it worked out really well.  If anyone has trouble hearing, please contact Ms. Ann Messall 258 
at amessall@surfsidebeach.org or call town hall at 913.6111 to speak with her.    259 
 260 
 Ms. Fellner said that Fire Chief Cimini will be out of town until November 4th.  Battalion Captain 261 
Prentice Williams would handle day-to-day operations during his absence.  Captain Williams will work 8 262 
a.m. to 5 p.m., Monday through Friday, and will be on call for all emergencies.  He may be reached by 263 
telephone at 913.6369 or email at pwilliams@surfsidebeach.org.     264 
 265 
 Ms. Fellner met with Lanier Parking last week and also attended the first thirty minutes of the last 266 
parking committee meeting.  She has since emailed all the parking data through September 30th, 267 
including all related information about pay stations, locations, etc., to the committee chairman who would 268 
disseminate it to the members.  Town Council also was sent a copy by email just before today’s 269 
workshop. 270 
 271 
 Mayor Samples presumed that someone would be storing the parking meters and pay stations.  272 
He asked who that would be.  Ms. Fellner said this year Lanier has agreed to store them in Myrtle Beach.  273 
Hopefully, next year the town would have space to store them.  The town might have to pay a nominal fee 274 
for storage.  Even though the equipment was new, they still require refurbishment, because they were 275 
exposed to the weather and salt air throughout the season.  Refurbishment should not be too expensive, 276 
because the equipment is new.  Mayor Samples asked if there were climate controlled warehouses in 277 
town.  Ms. Fellner did not know, but Lanier would charge extra if it had to come into town to work on the 278 
equipment.  Mayor Samples was concerned about keeping the town’s equipment secure.  Ms. Fellner 279 
said Lanier would be asked how the equipment could be segregated.  The answer may be as simple as 280 
tracking serial numbers.  Mayor Samples asked if the meters would be taken down in about a week.  Ms. 281 
Fellner said she had already approved Lanier to pull meters that were totally inactive, i.e. 13th South, a bit 282 
early so that the town can be finished and shut down after the 30th of the month.   283 
 284 
 Mr. Stevens asked if the problems experienced in the past years like machines breaking down 285 
and not being able to obtain parts occurred this year since Lanier was hired.  Ms. Fellner said no, but 286 
these were brand new machines...  Mr. Stevens interrupted and said that was all he wanted to know.      287 
 288 
 Mayor Samples said everyone appreciated all that Ms. Fellner does.  Ms. Fellner said thank you, 289 
she appreciated that.   290 
 291 
 292 

mailto:amessall@surfsidebeach.org�
mailto:pwilliams@surfsidebeach.org�


Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 6 of 10 
 

 7.  BUSINESS.
 294 

   293 

 A.  Second Reading – Ordinance #13-0763 to amend §5-18 Appointment of Poll Workers, 295 
Administrator Fellner. 296 
 297 
 Mayor Samples said this ordinance was to comply with state code.  Ms. Fellner said that was 298 
correct.  This ordinance changes the town code to stipulate that three poll workers were required for the 299 
first 500 electors and one poll worker for each additional 500 electors registered to vote in the precinct.  300 
 301 
 Mr. Stevens moved to adopt second reading of Ordinance #13-0763.  Ms. Mabry seconded.  All 302 
voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.  303 
 304 
 B.  Municipal Election Commission – Reappointment Ms. Peggy Inman (May be deferred 305 
until after executive session.) 306 
 307 
 Mayor Samples said this could be discussed in executive session, if council desired.   308 
 309 
 Ms. Mabry moved to reappoint Ms. Peggy Inman to the Municipal Election Commission.  Mr. 310 
Stevens seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED.   311 
 312 
 Mayor Samples thanked Ms. Inman for her service. 313 
 314 
 8.  DISCUSSION

 317 

 – Any matters of concern or information to be discussed by Town 315 
Council. 316 

 Event Prize Drawings at Town Events, Mayor Pro Tempore Mabry. 318 
 319 
 Ms. Mabry presented the decision paper, a copy of which is on file, and said this came to her 320 
attention when she received several phone calls after the festival.  The town’s events seem to be getting 321 
bigger, but there were also other issues.  There are people trying to raffle off golf carts, and even though 322 
it was not mentioned in the decision paper, she wanted to make sure drawings were handled pursuant to 323 
South Carolina law.  Adopting an ordinance would give the police an enforcement tool.  All the vendors 324 
want people to come to their booths.  That is why they attend.  If a prize was offered to get people to the 325 
booth, then how does the public know that the prize was given?  There is no method or procedure for 326 
documenting the prize winner.  Ms. Mabry said if Town Council agreed, she would like for the decision 327 
paper to be sent to the attorney to determine whether it is viable so there would be checks and balances 328 
to protect the public when large prizes were being offered.  The paper has $25 as a starting place for the 329 
prize value; she did not care what amount was used.  Ms. Mabry said because the events are in town, 330 
she wanted to make sure that they were handled properly. 331 
 332 
 Mr. Smith asked if there was a problem in the past when a prize was not awarded.   333 
 334 
 Ms. Mabry said there was no way to know; that was the concern.  After the Family Festival, 335 
several people approached her and asked how they could find out who won the various prizes.  She did 336 
not have an answer for them.  There was not a problem with giving small gift certificates, but when large 337 
prizes were being used as a draw to come to a booth, there should be at least some announcement of 338 
the winner.   339 
 340 
 Mr. Johnson asked if other towns or cities had similar regulations.   341 
 342 
 Ms. Mabry searched the Internet, but did not find anything similar, because events do not always 343 
have prize giveaways.  Some towns do not allow give-away drawings.   344 
 345 
 Mayor Samples hoped that fraudulent practices were not going on.  He recalled that a vendor that 346 
did timeshares gave away prizes.  Ms. Ellis said that occurs, and the Shriners had a drawing at the 347 
barbeque festival; motorcycles and cars have been given away.  (**)  There weren’t a lot of big prize 348 
drawings, but there were some.  Mayor Samples asked if she knew whether they were awarded.  Ms. Ellis 349 
said no.   350 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 7 of 10 
 

 351 
 Ms. Dodge said she wished she had thought of this.  She thought Ms. Mabry did a really good job 352 
and it was something that you wonder about, because you never hear who won the prizes like a car.  She 353 
thought she was onto something here and that it was probably something that should be considered 354 
seriously. 355 
 356 
 Mr. Smith said he really did not see a problem and did not think it was needed. 357 
 358 
 Mr. Johnson said he found that most large prizes awarded were done from registrations made at 359 
multiple events, and the process was usually done on a donation basis.  He did not see a problem with 360 
that nor did he object to sending the decision paper to the attorney.  He did feel the prize amount should 361 
be a higher amount, perhaps a couple of hundred dollars.   362 
 363 
 Ms. Mabry said a higher amount was fine. 364 
 365 
 Mr. Stevens wondered if this might make people think twice about coming to the festival.  He was 366 
not sure whether it was the right thing to do, because people might think it was “big brother watching over 367 
you.”  He would like a legal opinion on it as this has to do with sweepstakes law, and of course, if you 368 
ever got a time share letter you had a 1:1.3 million chance of winning the top prize.  Most people win a $2 369 
telephone.         370 
 371 
 Ms. Mabry asked Ms. Fellner whether this process would help staff or hurt the town.  If it would be 372 
useful, it was worth pursuing.  Ms. Fellner said without naming names, she said at this past Family 373 
Festival there were a couple of people that called to inquire as to who won prizes or when the drawings 374 
would be held.  So, she was of two minds.  The law was very clear and if you ever go into the mall where 375 
a car was being raffled, they were required to publish the date, and the drawing time of the winner.  There 376 
was public accountability.  She like public accountability, however, it was council’s decision to determine 377 
whether it was needed for town events.   378 
 379 
 Mr. Johnson said the questions that people call the town to inquire about should be directed to 380 
the vendors offering the prize.  It’s not the town offering the prize.   381 
 382 
 Mayor Samples said Mr. Johnson’s comment was well taken, but it was unknown what the 383 
vendors were saying.  In regards to the prize value, he believed it should be at a higher value.  He 384 
recalled this was an issue with the special events committee when they were going to award a golf cart as 385 
a prize.  He believed a legal review and input was worthwhile before anything else was done.  He asked 386 
Town Council if that was acceptable.  COUNCIL CONCURRED.  387 
 388 
 Mayor Samples asked Ms. Marty Hardwick to please let South Carolina House Representative 389 
Nelson Hardwick know that we all were very happy he was feeling better and he has our best.    390 
 391 
 9.  
 393 

PUBLIC COMMENTS – General Comments (5 minutes.) 392 

 “Good evening.  Ralph Magliette, 104 Harbor Lights.  I’m here as a representative of South 394 
Strand Helping Hand, and I’ve been asked to go around to the local churches and to Surfside Beach to 395 
talk about the two holiday drives that we’re doing.  What we’re trying to do is we’re trying to help feed the 396 
hungry at Thanksgiving, and provide Christmas gifts of clothing and toys for children in needy families.  397 
The goal this holiday season is to provide 250 Thanksgiving food baskets that’s a complete meal with a 398 
frozen turkey and 450 Angel Tree gifts, which would include clothes and a toy for children under the age 399 
of ten.  I would just say that if people know South Strand Helping Hand, we’re a nonprofit organization.  400 
We help people that are (**) for that have personal tragedy or need emergency assistance.  Over the 401 
course of this year, we’ve seen a significant increase in number of people who have come to Helping 402 
Hands for help, and it’s a little bit shocking these days with that with the tourist season over and seasonal 403 
work shutting down, the number of people that we see here coming for emergency help for food to feed 404 
their families.  So, having to provide those needs for those people, our resources to provide this annual 405 
gift giving that we try to do for 250 Thanksgiving food baskets and the Angel Tree gifts is limited, because 406 
we have limited amounts of funds.  Much of our money this year has gone to help people with utilities or 407 
pharmaceuticals that they need.  So, I would just ask people if you think about it, if you’d like to do 408 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 8 of 10 
 

something for the holiday season to help South Strand Helping Hands, we’re 100-percent nonprofit.  All 409 
the money that’s given, a 100-percent of it goes to help our families.  I’ve lived here now two years.  This 410 
is a wonderful, loving and caring community.  The council and people have helped me before in August 411 
with the food drives and all the other things that you do.  My wife and I are truly blessed.  We have our 412 
health.  We are economically secure.  We live in a beautiful community.  If people could just search their 413 
hearts and we really need to be passionate about helping the poor; people who through no fault of their 414 
own are struggling.  So, if you could open your heart this holiday season, and help us, I have a flyer and I 415 
would just say that if you’d like to give a donation or help, it’s South Strand Helping Hand, 812 Poplar 416 
Drive South, Surfside Beach, 29575, and the phone number is 843.238.4594.  Thank you very much, and 417 
God bless you.” 418 
 419 
 “Ron Ott, 7th Avenue North.  If you do the raffle, what I learned from the town I came from is no 420 
ticket stubs.  Don’t do ticket stubs, because nobody can find their ticket stub.  Alright, let ‘em fill out their 421 
names and phone number, and now you can do email addresses, and stuff, and their home address.  In 422 
the place I came from, we used to (**) raffle off like a hundred different things, and it was almost like 423 
everybody was gonna win and it, it turned out to be a lot of, lot of fun and the town made some money.  It 424 
was good for, everybody was looking forward to it, and they’d be, oh, this was in July and people, they 425 
would start putting those tickets out for sale in June and a lot of tickets were sold, and the, I’ve seen the 426 
Myrtle Beach anniversary book, which was very nice.  It was hard to put down.  I mean you just want to 427 
keep looking at those old pictures and everything, and I can’t see why businesses ain’t knocking our 428 
doors down to get in there and get their ad on there.  (**) Because people are gonna have this.  They’re 429 
gonna look at it.  A lot of people are gonna see it.  We, (**) selling ‘em, but we gotta get a salesman out 430 
there, because everybody should be in it.  They should.  It’s, it’s a great thing.  Most of us, I don’t think 431 
are gonna be here for the next (**).  This is it for us.  This is our last anniversary.  Thank you.” 432 
 433 
 “Wanda Burgess, 311 15th South.  This is Jackson (holding a photograph up of her dog).  He is 434 
three and a half years old, 26 pounds.  About three weeks ago, I learned that our leash laws in this town 435 
are woefully inadequate.  I was on; I had him on his leash.  Went outside to take a pee.  There’s a pit bull-436 
boxer mix on a leash; good job.  Owner was on a skateboard.  The owner splattered in the middle of the 437 
street and the dog attacked Jackson.  Luckily, he’s got real thick hair around his neck or that dog 438 
would’ve took [sic] it off.  It took me and that girl; she ended up having to tackle that dog to get it off of 439 
Jackson.  But, now the dog was on a leash, but she was on a skateboard.  Back in April, May, sometime, 440 
I don’t know, but it was, coming down Hollywood Drive.  Jackson and me on a golf cart.  We’d been up at 441 
the lake barking at turtles, and I see two chocolate Labs down the street.  Girl’s got ‘em on leashes.  442 
She’s on roller blades.  They pulled her wide open for three entire blocks before she was able to get 443 
those dogs stopped and off the road.  She could’ve been killed.  I see people walking the dogs and riding 444 
bicycles.  Yeah, the dog’s on a leash; you don’t have control of that dog, if you’re on something other than 445 
your feet, and it wasn’t but a few days after Jackson was attacked, and like I said, he was lucky.  He only 446 
got three scratches, but he did scratch the, the other dog’s eye.  That’s my boy.  But, I’m going down 447 
Ocean Boulevard and there’s two boxers.  Yeah, they might be the nicest dogs in the world.  I don’t know.  448 
You’ve got a lady and the boxer and you got a little kid about this tall (indicating about waist high height 449 
with her hand) walking the other boxer.  You’re not gonna tell me that they have control of that dog.  A 450 
small child is not gonna be able to control a dog like that.  If you’re on a skateboard, you do not have 451 
control of your dog.  If you’re on roller blades, you do not have control of your dog.  You might not have 452 
control of your life; same way with the bicycles.  If that dog’s gonna attack, it’s gonna attack regardless of 453 
what you’re riding.  We need to take a look at our leash laws, because they are inadequate.  I now have a 454 
stun gun, (**) but it’s not strong enough to kill ‘em.  It’ll knock ‘em on their butt.” 455 
 456 
 “Good evening, Council, citizens.  Timothy Courtney, 1416 South Poplar Drive.  I’d like to say 457 
thank you very much for a great job done on the fall festival. It was fantastic.  My kids loved it, and they 458 
are seven and a fourteen year old and it means a lot.  This is the family beach, remember that, there are 459 
people that grew up here and live here all year round. Too, I’d like to thank the fire prevention week.  460 
They did a great job on that. You got my 13 [sic] year old to stick around and go around on a fire truck.  461 
That’s very hard to do when they are 13 years old. She had a really good time. So remember the police 462 
and fire did a great job and they, we definitely need ‘em in this community.  So don’t forget them, please. 463 
As far as the raffle thing, yeah, there should be some accountability as far as who wins the golf cart.  That 464 
is a big prize, and that is one reason why I didn’t buy a ticket, because to me it looked like a scam.  I 465 
thank you very much.” 466 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 9 of 10 
 

 467 
 “Harry Kohlmann, 1610 South Ocean Boulevard.  I know the town needs money, and because of 468 
a mistake done by the public works, there is an obvious amount of houses that are not paying their proper 469 
taxes. They are claiming that they are full time residents and they’re second home owners.  There are 470 
three of them just within a two block area where I live.  I think everybody should get out and report these 471 
people.  They’re not paying their fair taxes.  It’s wrong, and we shouldn’t tolerate it.  Everybody deserves 472 
to pay what they are supposed to pay. There’s even the house right down the block from me who says 473 
he’s a second home owner, having a permanent resident.  He’s not, and he’s renting his house out, and I 474 
bet you he doesn’t even have a business license, because he doesn’t even have roll out service for 475 
summer or winter, and I didn’t just even know that until I started looking.  So I think it’s, we, all residents, 476 
all citizens in this town should report these people, and then we’d make a lot more money than $12 a 477 
month for roll out service. So there’s big, big money that’s not being paid in this town.  Thank you.” 478 
         479 
 Mrs. Fellner encouraged residents to report that type activity and assured them that the reporting 480 
could be done anonymously.   481 
  482 
 10.  
 484 

COUNCIL COMMENTS. 483 

 Mr. Steven:  “I wanna thank everyone for coming out.  It is getting the holiday time, and Ralph 485 
Magliette made some good points, and we need to help our fellow citizens out (**) in need.  So if you can 486 
do something for those folks that don’t have the money, South Strand Helping Hand is a great 487 
organization to contribute your money to, and I applaud Ralph Magliette for doing what he’s done working 488 
for them as a volunteer, and also working for the South Strand Senior Citizens place there on 10th 489 
Avenue.  We need more people like that in this town.  Other than that, that’s all I have to say.  Y’all have a 490 
good night.” 491 
 492 
 Mrs. Mabry:  “The only thing I want to remind everybody is [about] our recycling program.  Per 493 
capita we recycle more than anybody in Horry County, and we get Mr. Adair, our director, gets invited to 494 
sit on a panel, and give talks because of the recycling program we have.  Another thing to note is that we 495 
don’t mandate it.  We do it voluntary, and we still get it done.  We actually have more recycling than we 496 
do garbage, I believe.  I think that was the last time I talked to him.  So I, and they don’t charge us a 497 
tipping fee for recycling.  So every time you recycle you actually save the town money, a lot of money. So, 498 
I’m very proud of our program, proud of our director, we talk about cost saving, that’s tremendous and for 499 
him to be sitting in Columbia on a panel we should be very proud of the staff that we have.  Thank you.” 500 
 501 
 Mr. Smith:  “No, no comments.” 502 
 503 
 Mrs. Dodge:  “Excuse me. I too would like to commend Mr. Magliette for his work in our town to 504 
help others, and I know there are other people who also do good things; my thanks to them as well. 505 
Excuse me.” 506 
 507 
 Mr. Johnson:  “Thank you Mr. Mayor.  I have very few comments tonight other than thank you for 508 
coming out, and God bless you.  I do have a public service announcement of sorts.  The mayor was 509 
mentioning the short cut road that was recently paved behind or beside Dick’s Pawn Shop.  I would just 510 
like to remind the public that the speed limit on that road is 15 miles an hour. (Laughter.)  Unfortunately, I 511 
know it too well. Thank you, again.  Have a good evening.” 512 
 513 
 Mayor Samples: “Thank you everybody for coming out.  We appreciate you showing the 514 
appropriate interest in your town, that’s what keeps it a great place to live.  We’ll see you next time.”   515 
 516 
 11.  
 518 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 517 

 A.  Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(1) to discuss the appointment of a person to a public 519 
body (See Business Item 7.B.) 520 
 521 
 B.  Pursuant to FOIA §30-4-70(a)(2) to discuss proposed multiple contractual 522 
arrangements.  523 
      524 



Regular Town Council Meeting 
October 22, 2013 

 

Page 10 of 10 
 

 Mr. Smith moved to enter executive session at 7:55 p.m.  Mr. Stevens seconded.  All voted in 525 
favor.  MOTION CARRIED.  Mr. Smith moved to reconvene regular session at 8:40 p.m.  Mr. Stevens 526 
seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 527 
 528 
 Mayor Samples said that no action was taken during executive session. 529 
 530 
 Mr. Smith moved to disband the recreation/special events committee due to lack of participation 531 
by its members.  Ms. Dodge seconded.   Mr. Smith said only one member had been faithful in attending 532 
the scheduled meetings.  All voted in favor.  MOTION CARRIED. 533 
 534 
 Mr. Smith moved to direct the town administrator to negotiate the pier deck encroachment 535 
contract and bring it back to Town Council.  Mr. Johnson seconded.  All voted in favor.  MOTION 536 
APPROVED. 537 
 538 
 12.  ADJOURNMENT.
 540 

   539 

 Mr. Smith moved to adjourn the meeting at 8:41p.m.  Ms. Mabry seconded.  All voted in favor.  541 
MOTION CARRIED. 542 
 543 
      Prepared and submitted by, 544 
 545 
      _____________________________________________  546 
      Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 547 
Approved:  November 12, 2013 548 
 549 
 550 

____________________________________ 551 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 552 

         553 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 554 
Mary Beth Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore    Ann Dodge, Town Council    555 
 556 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 557 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 558 
 559 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 560 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 561 
 562 
 563 
Clerk’s Note:  This document constitutes minutes of the meeting that was audio taped.  These are 564 
detailed minutes documenting each member’s comments.  Appointments to hear audio tapes may be 565 
scheduled with the town clerk.  In accordance with FOIA, meeting notice and the agenda were distributed 566 
to local media and interested parties. The agenda was posted on the town website, the entry door at 567 
Town Council Chambers, and in the Town Hall reception area.  Meeting notice was also posted on the 568 
Town marquee.  Public Comments and Town Council Comments are transcribed as close to verbatim as 569 
possible.  When (**) is used a section of the tape is inaudible.      570 



In recognition of 

Today we celebrate your dedication and 

commitment during your five years of service.  

Thank you for all of your efforts on behalf of the 

Town of Surfside Beach and its citizens.  
____________________________________________________________ 

The Hon. Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 
 
__________________________________________________ 

Micki Fellner, Town Administrator 
 
__________________________________________________ 

Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 

JAMES BEHRENS 

November 1, 2008 — November 1, 2013 

 
 

Town of 
Surfside Beach 

Debra
Draft



 1 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

    Surfside Beach Fire Department 
 

Town Council Report 

November 12, 2013 

 
Submitted By 

Daniel J. Cimini 
Fire Chief 

 



 2 

 

The following is an activity report for the operations of the Fire Department from 
October 1, 2013 to October 31, 2013 

Fire Runs  

Mutual Aid                     2 

Building Fire  1 

Cooking Fire, Confined to container 0 

Mobile Property, Vehicle Fire           1 

Arcing Wires  0 

Brush, brush/grass mixture           1 

Dumpster, Rubbish, Other  0 

Fire Other  2 

                                         Total            7 

Rescue/Emergency Medical Incident  

Rescue/EMS other    1 
Medical Assist, assist EMS Crew           33 
Emergency Medical             1      
Motor Vehicle Accident/no injuries    1 
Motor Vehicle Accident/with injuries   2 
Motor Vehicle Accident/with Entrapment   1 
 
                                         Total            39 

Hazardous Condition / No Fire  

Power line Down  0 

Vehicle Accident, General Cleanup 1 

Hazardous Condition  1 

Gas Leak {Natural – Propane}  0 

                                          Total  2 

 

 



 3 

Service Call  

Smoke or Odor Removal     1 

Oil or Other Combustible     1 

Person in Distress, other     0 

Swimmer In Distress     0 

Assist Invalid     2 

Service Call, other                                      1 

Unauthorized Burning                                 0 

Cover Assignment, Stand By,  Move-up     0 

Elevator Rescue     0 

                                           Total     5 

Good Intent Call  

Dispatched & Cancelled en-route              2 

Other    2 

Assist Police Other    2 

                                           Total    6 

False Alarm/False Call  

Alarm System Activation, No Fire              4 

False Alarm or False Call, No Fire    2 

System Malfunction    1 

Smoke Detector Activation             2 

Assist Police    1 

No Incident Found    1 

                                            Total   11 

Lost Estimates and Total Incidents  

No Dollar Loss for this reporting period  

Total Incidents for October {70} 

 



 4 

 

Additional information for October  

 All SCBA’s {Self Contained Breathing Apparatus} monthly tests per NFPA requirements 
and repairs were made, adjustments and batteries were completed. 
Monthly Turn-out Gear inspection was completed per NFPA Requirements. 

All apparatus equipment was checked and inventories verified for compliance to ISO 
and NFPA requirements.   

Surfside Beach Fire Department Volunteer staffing levels remained the same as last 
month.  We had 5 new potential members put in applications to become a Volunteer. 
Their applications are pending due the background checks and review committee 
interviews.  

Fire Prevention Activities  

Completed Inspections       22      
Pending Re-Inspections                    21 
Public Education Events         29 
Plans Review        0     

Pre Fire Plans {New}         2   

Pre-Plans Revised / Up-Dated            5 

Fire Station Visits      25      

Total Fire Prevention Activities for October {104} 

Captain Hans attended the monthly meetings of the Fire Life Safety Officers Association 
and the Fire Marshals Association of Horry and Georgetown County.  
During the month the new businesses were inspected in accordance with ISO and ICC 
codes.  
Our first annual Fire Prevention Week Public Education Open House was held Saturday 
October 12th at the fire station.  We had over 500 Children and adults visit the fire 
station to take part in the activities.  There were fire engine rides, static displays; 
children combat challenges, Sparky the Fire Dog was on hand, and a robot ambulance 
all for the attendee’s pleasure. The Golden Egg donated hotdogs, A& I Fire Water 
Restoration donated pop-corn, Firehouse Subs donated cookies and SAFER donated 
the soda and water.  A good time was had by all and we believe it was a huge success.   

 

 



 5 

 

Training 

 Volunteer and Career personnel dedicated 483.45 hours to training and 406 hours 
responding to Calls, Family Fest and Fire Prevention Activities during the month. 
During the month of October, Captain Williams conducted the required training to 
comply with all the required standards. Night time and company drill training was 
conducted to the requirements as set forth by the Insurance Service Organization, 
South Carolina Fire Academy, National Fire Protection Association {NFPA}, and the 
Surfside Beach Fire Department SOG’s. 
Career personnel have completed the Municipal Association of South Carolina (Risk 
Management Services on line training) to receive an additional 5 hours of on-line 
training during the month. Also our career personnel are taking on line classes through 
an agreement with Horry County Fire Rescue for a total of 8 hours per firefighter. 

The career and volunteer personnel have successfully completed the class room 
portions of the National Registry First Responder training. Our firefighters are now in the 
process of getting there National Registry certificate. The firefighters that attended the 
training from Surfside Beach Fire department scored the highest in the class.  

Staff Report 
Captain Mike Hans:  did a good job with Open House & Family Fest. He will continue 
to work on coming up with ideas and lectures that will enhance public knowledge on fire 
safety. Along with getting the community more involved with fire safety, he will be 
holding fire safety workshops throughout the year for members of our community to 
identify preventive measures to prevent fires from starting. He has begun to implement 
the pre-inspection program for our business owners.  
Captain Prentice Williams:  continues to do an outstanding job in developing 
education programs that are interesting and informative. The program titled “Neighbors 
Saving Neighbors” is in place and has a start date of November 14th with a second 
date of November 21st for the class of CPR. He will be conducting two classes a day 
one in the morning and one in the afternoon. This program will be open to all residents 
of Surfside Beach at no charge; there will be a minimal charge for individuals that do not 
live within the town limits.  The announcement is being placed on the town website and 
we have flyers in town hall and the fire station.  We will also be placing them around 
town during the next week. 
 The Junior Firefighter program; is off and running. We have one member who has 
joined the department to become the first junior firefighter for the Town of Surfside 
Beach Fire department. There is a lot of interest from several young people in the 
community but none have made the commitment to join. 
Captain Williams continues to research training needs for our career and volunteer 
members and has been working with the area departments on joint training.   



 6 

 
Captain Williams is an outstanding officer and employee; he is extremely dedicated to 
the town and the fire department.  It is a real pleasure working with him and I can truly 
say he is a big help with the overall operation of the department. 
Captain Robert Packard:  Continues working on up-dating our inventories of Radios in 
preparation for the re-banding requirements that are being put in place by Horry County 
Communications and the FCC. 
He continues to up-date our turn-out gear, tools and equipment to provide serial 
numbers, dates in service and replacement dates for use in future budgets and the 
Master Plan that is being developed by the Fire Chief. This project will take some time 
to complete and we have set a January 1, 2014 deadline. 
 He is working on a plan to identify every piece of equipment in the fire department 
inventory by having an identification sticker on them to identify what year the item was 
purchased and for which apparatus it was purchased.    
During the month he has headed up the turnout gear committee and within a week we 
will have all bid info back from vendors so we can order the new required gear. 
Engineer Ted Sacra has been working to evaluate the different types of auto 
extrication equipment in the world today.  He is team leader of the evaluation committee 
to review the department’s needs in extrication equipment. During the month the 
committee has met several times and will be making recommendations to the Fire Chief 
and bid results on the tools. He is a modeled employee who strides to make 
improvement and is always willing to take on assignments. 
Engineer Tom Zimpleman: continues to be a good employee, he has been tasked with 
working on the equipment evaluation and inventories assisting Captain Packard with 
that project.  Tom has been evaluating nozzles and hose from the various vendors to 
determine the best equipment for Surfside Beach.  The recommendation for the best 
nozzles and hose has been made and we are in the bid process which will be 
completed in November 
He has taken his personal time to work with Volunteer Engineer Terry Grady on the 
1920 antique engine. I am pleased to say they have done an outstanding job on the 
unit, it is now running and it will be ready for the annual Christmas parade. 
Engineer Larry Carter:  continues working on pre-plans to try to bring them all up to 
date and building a data base for the building department and fire department to utilize 
the information whenever it is time for a building inspection or permit to be issued. He is 
assisting with the evaluation of the rescue equipment and equipment placement. 
He is good employee who is always looking for something to do. He is working with 
Engineer Sacra on the rescue equipment evaluation.   
 
 
 



 7 

 
Chief Daniel Cimini: During the month I attended the Horry Georgetown Fire Chiefs 
meeting, Coastal Water Rescue Team Meeting, and the Horry County EMD Disaster 
Drill planning committee meeting. 
The Master Plan draft for the department is ready for review by the Town Managers.  
Chief Keziah’ and I are still working on a Volunteer Fire-Police program that would 
provide us with additional personnel that could be used at a fire or emergency to relieve 
our full time police officers to return to patrol. 
We are making progress on the Refurb of the 1994 engine and I am very pleased with 
the process so far.  The reworking of the squad to a mid size rescue truck is coming 
along nicely. I am excited about the 1920 engine’s progress and of the SAFER groups’ 
financial contributions to complete the work.  
I am very proud of our Volunteers and our Career personnel, the month of October was 
very busy due to fire prevention activities, Family Fest, ISO required night drills, all the 
committee meetings determining the equipment needed for the department and 
responding to calls.  When you think that they jointly spent over 850 hours this month 
you have to be proud of the commitment these individuals have made. 
I hope that Mayor and Council are pleased with the department’s progress so far.   
I have to let council know how great the town staff works together, in my 54 years in the 
fire service I have had the opportunity to work in a few communities and can honestly 
tell you I have never worked with a better bunch of people as I have here.  The 
relationship between the Police Department and the Fire Department is outstanding 
Chief Keziah and his personnel could not be friendlier and are always ready to help 
when asked.  Our Public Works Department did a great job in helping the fire 
department get ready for our Fire prevention open house.  Debbie Ellis and Mary Lynn 
Stainaker are always willing to go the extra distance to help with events and I want to 
thank them both for all their help as well. 
The Finance Department and Zoning and Planning Department are also always there 
when needed as is all those who work in Administration. 
Thank you for allowing me the privilege of being your fire chief it is a real pleasure 
serving the town residents, business owners and the visitors to our great town. 
 

Daniel J. Cimini 
Fire Chief 
Surfside Beach Fire Department 
 













































































































Debra
Sticky Note
End of report.  The page numbering is incorrect per Director Morris.



1 
 

 

 
 

RODNEY KEZIAH DOUGLAS F. SAMPLES 
     Chief of Police Mayor 

 
 
 
 
 

SURFSIDE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 
811 Pine Drive 

Surfside Beach, SC 29575 
 

Monthly Activity Report 
OCT 2013 

(1-OCT–31-OCT 13) 
Prepared by Rodney Keziah 

 

 
 

INTRODUCTION: 
 

October 2013 statistics show a 9% decrease in calls for service from last month (972 
to 890). Arrest and Citation data between October 2012 and October 2013 showed a 33 
percent decrease (308 to 230).  
 

As always, these numbers will be detailed for you in the Workload / Performance Metrics 
section of the report. 

 
PERSONNEL ACTIONS: 

 
We have transferred PTL Jim Amundsen from his part-time status, into one of our 

vacant full-time slots. He is a great asset to our organization and believes in our mission. 
 
Joey Mutto has been hired to fill a second vacant Police Officer position. He is 

scheduled to attend the Academy in Columbia for 12 weeks in early 2014. He will begin his 
pre-academy training, and also assist in working dispatch until his academy date. Joey is a 
co-owner of a business in town, and also owns property in town. He has ties to this 
community, and I think he will be a great fit to our organization. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



2 
 

HIGH RISK LAW ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES: 
 

SBPD officers used three reportable levels of force and one vehicle pursuit 
during this reporting period (standard handcuffing, escort holds, etc. do not 
require additional reporting beyond our Uniform Crime Report – see following 
table for summary).    

 
SBPD - HIGH RISK LAW ENFORCEMENT ACTIVITIES (OCT 2013 Reporting Period)

DATE ACTIVITY TYPE OFFENSE OFFICERS ARREST INJURIES PROP. DAMAGE 

1 OCT Pursuit 

Fail to Stop / 

No DL / 

Interfering 

with Police 

CPL 

Ziolkowski 
Yes None No 

This was a result of a very low speed pursuit (max speed 41 mph) into a parking lot in Deerfield. The suspect fled on foot but was captured 

after a brief foot pursuit without further incident. 

5 OCT Use of Force 
Assault and 

Battery 3rd 

CPL 

Ziolkowski / 

CPL King 

Yes None No 

This was a TASER deployment to break up a fight in the jail cell between two inmates. No injuries were reported to any parties. 

 

19 OCT 

 

Use of Force 

Assault on 

Officer / DUS 

2nd Offense  

PTL Williams Yes 
Minor to 

Suspect 

No 

 

This was a result of a traffic stop. After being handcuffed and placed under arrest, the suspect kicked the officer while being escorted to the 

patrol vehicle. The assault caused both the officer and handcuffed suspect to fall to the ground. The suspect sustained minor cuts to his facial 

area during the fall to the ground. 

 

31 OCT                Use of Force                      Burglary                    Sgt. Sliker                   Yes                        None                             No 

 

This was a result of an arrest for a burglary suspect. When Sgt. Sliker attempted to place the defendant in handcuffs, she attempted to pull 

away and flee. She was immediately taken to the ground and handcuffed without any further incident. 

 
 

TRAINING: 
 

As always, officers maintained their Class 1 Law Enforcement licenses via 
online training provided by the SC Criminal Justice Academy, and continued to 
receive their mandated in- service hours through the SC Criminal Justice 
Academy online. 

 
On Sept 30-Oct 4, Sgt. Bailey attended Driving Instructor Recertification at the 

Justice Academy in Columbia. This certification is required every three years, 
and enables him to train current officers during in-service training. 

 
On Oct 7-9, Chief Keziah, Lt. Hofmann, and Sgt. Bailey attended the South 

Carolina Training Officers Conference held in Myrtle Beach. This was a three day 
training session for certified state instructors. 

 
 
 
 



3 
 

 
October 21, Sgt. Sliker and Cpl. King attended Marijuana Analysis 

Recertification in Columbia. This certification allows us to analyze and test 
marijuana in-house for court certification and testimony. This certification also 
saves time and expense of our-sourcing the testing to an outside agency or 
laboratory. 

 
October 21-25, Sgt. Bailey attended Firearms Instructor Recertification at the 

Criminal Justice Academy in Columbia. Recertification is required every three 
years. 

 
All sworn personnel attended in-service training on October 15 and 17. This 

training included updates on Use of Force Policy, practical’s in emergency 
vehicle operation at Georgetown Co Airport, practical’s in defensive tactics, and 
a TASER recertification course. 

 
   WORKLOAD / PERFORMANCE METRICS: 
 

As usual, we’ve included our Monthly Activity Report (along with the same period 
last year spreadsheet for comparison purposes).  Also included are the usual 
supplemental reports: the Criminal Investigations log and the USMS Fugitive Task 
Force report. 

 
Sgt. Bailey’s participation in the US Marshalls Task Force assisted our agency 

in clearing 31 of our outstanding warrants and collecting $6,907 in bond and fine 
money. 

 
This month, SBPD officers issued 76 written warnings in lieu of Uniform Traffic 

Tickets or to record vehicles stopped for non-traffic related reasons (these are not 
reflected in our database totals). 
 
 
 
NOTABLE EVENTS / INFORMATION 
 
 On October 5 SBPD participated in the Surfside Beach Family Festival. We offered 
fingerprinting for children, and provided the fingerprints and identi-kits to the parents. A 
dunking booth fundraiser was also on site, and netted approximately $700 for the SC 
Special Olympics. This was a great day for us as we were able to meet and interact with 
a lot of the town residents and visitors. 
 
 On October 18, Communications Officer’s Christina Mueller and Christy Norton 
graduated from the 3 week Basic Jail Certification class at the Justice Academy in 
Columbia. This class was very challenging both physically and academically. I commend 
both officers on their dedication and drive to successfully complete the training. They are 
now State Certified Detention Officers, and can assist in our jail with female inmate 
searches and other duties. 
 
  
 
 



4 
 

 On October 21, I received a phone call from a visitor who had broken down in 
town. Sgt. Black had stopped to assist, and was able to get him on his way after 
providing him a ride back to his residence. The caller stated that it was nice to see an 
agency that would be willing to help and provide that type of customer service. I agree!! 
Great job Lee. 
 
  

On October 29, we issued a press release detailing the arrest of a North Carolina 
woman for Attempted Murder. This stemmed from an incident that took place in August. 
The defendant was hospitalized since the incident, and was placed under arrest when 
released from medical care. Please see the attached press release. 
 
 On October 31, we issued a press release detailing the arrest of two female 
subjects for the burglary of a residence in town. Through the investigation the suspects 
were arrested, and all of the stolen property was recovered. See the attached press 
release.   
 
  
  
                                          
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 



5 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
SURFSIDE BEACH POLICE DEPARTMENT 

 

 

Monthly Activity Report 
OCT 2013 

(1 OCT – 31 OCT 13) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

AND 

SUPPORTING MATERIALS 
 



































































Ordinance No. 13-0766 
First Reading: 11/12/2013 

Second Reading: ___________ 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH 
    ) TO AMEND 13-52(d)(8) TO ADD DOCK PERMIT, AND  
COUNTY OF HORRY  )  TO AMEND §17-417 TO ALLOW DOCKS AND TO   
    ) ADD §17-418 PENALTIES FOR VIOLATION  
TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH )   
 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, in 
council duly assembled on August 13, 2013 by Ordinance Number 13-0757 amended 
Section 13-52 Buildings and Building Regulations, paragraph (d) Specific permit types, 
subparagraph (8) Marine Construction to remove the provision for issuing a dock permit; 
and  
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, in 
council duly assembled on July 12, 2013 by Ordinance Number 13-0751 amended the 
Town Code of Ordinances to add Section 17-417 to prohibit docks on town lakes; and  
 
 WHEREAS, information has come forward upon which Town Council has 
deemed that these ordinances negatively impact the Town of Surfside Beach and its 
residents;  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, Section 13-52, paragraph (d), subparagraph (8) Marine 
Construction is hereby amended to include “docks” and to correct a phrasing error to 
add the words “a permit,” and Section 17-417, Docks, is hereby repealed in its entirety 
and replaced with code as stipulated herein, and Section 17-418 Penalties is hereby 
added to the Town Code of Ordinances and that these sections so stated shall 
henceforth read as follows:    
 
SECTION 13-52(D)(8) Marine Construction.  Fishing piers, docks, bulkheads, and 
dune walkovers, refer to subsection 13-52(c) above for permit fees.  These structures 
may require approval by SCDHEC-Office of Coastal Resource Management as a 
condition to issue a permit and shall comply with town zoning codes.   
 
SECTION 17-417.  Docks.  Dock shall be defined as a structure extending over or 
encroaching upon a town owned body of water. 
 
Private, stationary docks, anchored with pilings, having fixed decks or decks that adjust 
to the water level, may hereafter be permitted on lakes having a minimum width of 75 
feet cross section measured from bank to bank at the proposed location of the dock 
(property owners considering building a dock shall consult Surfside Public Works about 
lake measurements at their location) subject to the following standards:  
 

A. One (1) dock allowed per property. 
 
 
 



Ordinance No. 13-0766 
First Reading: 11/12/2013 

Second Reading: ___________ 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

 
 
B. No dock shall exceed twelve (12) feet in length by twelve (12) feet in 

width.  Docks shall extend no more than fifteen (15) feet into the water 
measured from the high water mark.  Walkway, stairwell, or ancillary 
structures cannot exceed forty-eight (48) square feet. 

 
 C. Materials shall be: 
 
  1.   Natural wood tone and not painted 
 
  2.   Any materials having contact with the water must be    
   pressure treated. 
 
  3.   Decking and/or railing having no contact with the water   
   can utilize synthetic decking materials such as Trex,    
   MoistureShield, AZEK, Lumberock, and others. 
 
  4.   New docks or existing docks being repaired shall use    
   exterior floatation material consisting of one piece, no  seam   
   polyethylene, black in color.  In no case shall raw Styrofoam or  
   other synthetic products be used.   
 
  5.   Stainless steel or galvanized steel hardware.  
 
  6.   Pilings shall not contain Chromated Copper Aresenate (CCA). 

  
D. No lighting or electricity shall be permitted on dock. 
 
E. No roof or shelter shall be allowed.  
 
F. Dock shall be engineered to current building code standards.  
 
G. Hold Harmless Agreement must be executed by the property owner and 

recorded at the Register of Deeds in the Horry County Courthouse. 
 
H. Dock Encroachment Permit must be submitted and approved by the 

Public Works Director.  Dock Encroachment Permits shall be renewed 
annually and shall require a yearly inspection by the Building Official and 
the Public Works Director to ensure dock is maintained. 

 
I. Property owner must provide and maintain current liability and property 

damage insurance issued by one or more insurance companies licensed 
to do business in the state of SC, protecting the property owner and the 
Town from all claims for damage to property and bodily injury, including 
death, which arise from operation under or in connection with the 



Ordinance No. 13-0766 
First Reading: 11/12/2013 

Second Reading: ___________ 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

encroachment permit. Such insurance shall name the Town as an 
additional insured, shall include an indemnification policy; shall not 
terminate or be canceled prior to the expiration date without 30 days 
advance written notice to the Town. Each policy shall be for a minimum of 
one million dollars coverage. The indemnification agreement shall include 
provisions requiring the applicant to indemnify and hold harmless the 
Town from any claim of liability, and associated defense costs that arise 
because of the dock, and shall preserve the right of the Town to its choice 
of defense counsel. Failure to maintain proper insurance is a violation of 
this ordinance and the dock is subject to removal by the town at the 
owner’s expense. 

 
 Existing docks shall be considered existing non-conforming and may be repaired, 
but shall not be allowed to add additional square footage.   
 
 Property owners having existing docks that are replaced shall be required to 
adhere to Section 17-417(G) of this code and shall meet the requirements of Section 
17-417(I). 
 
SECTION 17-418.  Violations/Remedies. 
 
 A violation of Section 17-417 of this ordinance is hereby declared to be a 
misdemeanor under the laws of the state, and upon conviction thereof, an offender shall 
be punished by a fine not to exceeding five hundred dollars ($500.00), plus fees and 
assessments, or by imprisonment for a period not exceeding thirty (30) days.  Each day 
any violation of this ordinance continues shall constitute a separate offense.    
 
 All other portions of Chapter 13 and Chapter 17 remain in full force and effect 
and are without change. 
 
 SEVERABILITY.  If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this 
ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall be held 
invalid, that invalidity shall not affect the other provisions of this article, which can be 
given effect without the invalid provision or application, and to this end the provisions of 
this article are declared to be severable. 
 
 EFFECT OF SECTION HEADINGS.  The headings or titles of the several 
sections hereof shall be solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the 
meaning, construction, interpretation or effect of this ordinance. 
 
 REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances 
inconsistent with this ordinance are hereby repealed.  This ordinance shall take effect 
immediately upon approval at second reading by the Town Council of the Town of 
Surfside Beach, South Carolina. 
 



Ordinance No. 13-0766 
First Reading: 11/12/2013 

Second Reading: ___________ 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town 
of Surfside Beach, South Carolina, in assembly and by the authority thereof, this _____ 
day of _________ 2013. 
 

____________________________________ 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

         
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mary Beth Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore   Ann Dodge, Town Council    
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council 
      
 
 
       Attest: 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 













































































Debra
Black Out Box

Debra
Black Out Box

Debra
Black Out Box

Debra
Black Out Box











Debra
Black Out Box



Debra
Black Out Box



§ 3-5 SURFSIDE BEACH CODE 

(f) Violators shall be subject to set-off debt process and failure to payor appear may result 
in a non-resident violator compact (NRVC) notice for South Carolina licensed drivers. 

(g) Violators shall not be subject to incarceration. 

(h) Violation of this article is hereby declared to be a public nuisance, which may be abated 
by the town by restraining order, preliminary and permanent injunction, or other means 
provided for by law, and the town may take action to recover the costs of the nuisance 
abatement. 

(i) Each day of a continuing violation of this article shall be considered a separate and 
distinct offense and may result in cumulative infraction fines. 
(Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09) 

Sec. 3-6. Enforcement. 

(a) This article shall be enforced by the town police or office of the town administrator 
through appointment of duly authorized code enforcement official(s). 

(b) Any citizen who desires to register a complaint under this article may initiate 
enforcement with the office of the town administrator or chief of police. 
(Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09) 

Secs. 3-7-3-20. Reserved. 

ARTICLE II. DOGS* 

Sec. 3-21. Ferocious and vicious dogs prohibited. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to keep or have custody of any ferocious or vicious dog. 
Any dog evidencing characteristics usually associated with a dog abnormally inclined to attack 
or to attempt to attack other animals or persons without provocation by such other animal or 
person will be deemed as ferocious or vicious. This type of dog will be disposed of either by the 
owner or custodian or by the town upon determination and order from the municipal court. 
(Code 1969, § 5-21; Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09) 

Sec. 3-22. Dogs running at large prohibited. 

It shall be unlawful for any person having the ownership, possession or control of any dog 
to allow such dog to run at large within the town. Any dog which is off the property of the 
person having the ownership, possession or control of such dog shall be on a leash not 
exceeding seven (7) feet in length and shall be under the control of the person having custody 
of such dog, and shall wear a collar sufficient for the exercise of full control. Any dog running 

*Cross reference-Dogs on beaches, § 12-69. 
State law reference-Municipal powers to regulate dogs running at large and adopt 

stricter rabies control regulations, S.C. Code 1976, § 47-3-70. 

Supp. No.7 CD3:4 

Debra
Highlight



ANIMALS § 3-51 

at large within the town not registered shall be impounded by the town, and turned over to a 
local humane shelter or animal control facility and become subject to adoption or be disposed 
of pursuant to state law. 
(Code 1969, § 5-23; Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09) 

Sec. 3-23. Registration of dogs. 

It shall be unlawful for any person who owns or who has in his control a dog over four (4) 
months of age to fail to register the dog by application for a certificate of registration and 
payment of a fee of ten dollars ($10.00), except for service dogs which shall be exempt from 
registration fees. The town may from time to time offer a period for registration wherein the 
fee is waived or the applicable fee is designated for a specific pet related need. Certificates shall 
be numbered in the order of issue and shall be in force until June 1 each year and must be 
renewed annually with a payment of a current fee as provided for in the town's annual budget. 
All dogs registered shall wear a suitable collar for the attachment ofthe tag. The tag shall have 
the number of the registration certificate shown thereon. Any dog within the town not 
registered shall be impounded by the town, and turned over to a local humane shelter or 
animal control facility and become subject to adoption or be disposed of pursuant to state law. 
(Code 1969, § 5-20; Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09; Ord. No. 13-0755, 8-13-13) 

Sec. 3-24. Inoculation. 

It shall be unlawful for any person to own have in possession any dog over four (4) months 
old which has not been inoculated against rabies within the preceding twelve (12) months by 
a licensed veterinarian. 
(Code 1969, § 5-30; Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09) 

Sees. 3-27-3-50. Reserved. 

ARTICLE III. BIRDS AND WATER FOWL* 

Sec. 3-51. Bird sanctuary. 

The entire area within the town limits is designated as a bird sanctuary, and every citizen 
is to conserve bird life through care and feeding, and protection from danger of any and all 
kinds. It shall be unlawful for any person to kill, shoot, attempt to shoot, trap, or molest in any 
manner the birds within the town. 
(Code 1969, § 5-2; Ord. No. 09-0668, 5-26-09) 

*Editor's note-Ord. No. 09-0668, adopted May 26,2009, enacted provisions intended for 
use as chapter 3, article III, sections 3-2.1-3-2.4. To maintain the numbering system of the 
Code and at the discretion of the editor, said provisions have been redesignated as chapter 3, 
article III, sections 3-51-3-55. 

Supp. No. 15 CD3:5 











Ordinance No. 13-0764 
First Reading: 11/12/2013    

Second Reading:  __________ 
 

Page 1 of 6 
 

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA ) AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH 
    ) PROVIDING THAT TOWN CODE OF ORDINANCES  
COUNTY OF HORRY  )  SECTIONS 13-52, 13-57, 13-60 AND 13-61 BE AMENDED  
    ) ADOPTING AND ENACTING NEW REVISIONS TO THE   
TOWN OF SURFSIDE BEACH )  PLANNING, BUILDING AND ZONING FEES 
 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, in council duly 
assembled on October 8, 2013 desire to amend Sections 13-52, 13-57, 13-60 and 13-61of the Town 
Code of Ordinances; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town of Surfside Beach reviews its fees and charges and make adjustments as 
necessary to assist in the administration of the code ; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council deem the new and revised schedule of fees to be 
reasonable and in order. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, Sections 13-52, 13-57, 13-60 and 13-1 of the Code of Ordinances of the 
Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina, is hereby amended to:  
 
 Sec. 13-52. - Building permit and review fees. 
 
(a) New residential construction building permits and fees. New residential construction permits shall 

be based upon the total square footage, including heated and unheated square footage at a rate 
of forty-five cents ($0.45) per square foot.  Residential plan review fees shall be based upon the 
total square footage, including heated and unheated square footage, at a rate of twenty-two and 
one-half cents (0.225) per square foot.   

(b) New commercial construction building permits and fees. New commercial construction permits 
shall be based upon the total square footage, including heated and unheated square footage at a 
rate of thirty-five cents ($0.35) per square foot.   Commercial plan review fees shall be based 
upon the total square footage, including heated and unheated square footage at a rate of twenty-
seven and one-half cents ($0.275) per square foot. New commercial fees are for building permits 
only. All mechanical contractors must purchase separate permits under the mechanical permit fee 
schedule.  

(c) Renovations, repairs, and remodeling building permits and fees. Unless otherwise specified, 
permits required by this code involving structure remodeling, renovations, or repairs shall use the 
following fee schedule (Table 13-52c). Separate permits are required for electrical, plumbing, 
mechanical, pools, and signs. This section specifically applies to work that is not defined as 
ordinary minor repairs (section 13-50).  

Table 13-52c 
FEE SCHEDULE 

Total Valuation* Permit Fee 

$0 to $999.99 $50.00 minimum fee 

$1,000.00 to $49,999.99 $50.00 for the first $1,000.00, plus $5.00 for each additional $1,000.00 or 
fraction thereof 

$50,000.00 to $99,999.99 $295.00 for the first $50,000.00, plus $4.50 for each additional $1,000.00 or 
fraction thereof 

$100,000.00 to $520.00 for the first $100,000.00, plus $3.50 for each additional $1,000.00 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-50WHBUPEREEXMIRE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�


Ordinance No. 13-0764 
First Reading: 11/12/2013    

Second Reading:  __________ 
 

Page 2 of 6 
 

$499,999.99 or fraction thereof 

$500,000.00 and up $1,920.00 for the first $500,000.00, plus $3.00 for each additional $1,000.00 
or fraction thereof 

*Valuations for renovations, repairs, or remodeling. Valuations for renovations, repairs, or remodeling 
shall be determined by the use of 2012 International Building Code or the latest adopted edition thereof.   
 Plan review. When a plan is required to be submitted, a plan review fee shall be paid at the time of 
submitting plans and specifications for review. Said plan review fee shall be equal to fifty (50) percent of 
the building permit fee as set forth herein. The plan review fee is in addition to the building permit fee. 
When a plan requires corrections or changes by the Building Official an additional fee shall be paid as 
follows:  
Second review:              $100.00 
Third and subsequent reviews:    $50.00 
 
(d)  Specific permit types. Specific permit types are set out herein below. For other types of permits 

that require inspections and are not specifically listed herein refer to subsection 13-52(c) above 
for applicable fees:  

(1) Foundations (special permit). Use fee schedule in subsection 13-52(c) above.  

(2) Electrical (except meter box replacement), plumbing, fire protection system, alarm systems, 
mechanical (HVAC), and gas systems. Unless otherwise specified, permits required by this 
chapter involving electrical, plumbing, fire protection systems, alarm systems, mechanical 
(HVAC), and gas systems shall use the following fee schedule (Table 13-52c) above. 

(3) Electrical meter boxes. Electrical meter box replacement or change of service fee: One hundred 
dollars ($100.00).  

(4) Swimming pools. Residential and commercial fee: Two hundred fifty dollars ($250.00). Plan 
review for swimming pool fee: Fifty dollars ($50.00). In protected coastal areas this permit may be 
subject to approval by SCDHEC-Office of Coastal Resource Management. For pool repair permit 
fees, refer to subsection 13-52(c) above.  

(5) Awnings. Refer to subsection 13-52(c) above. Awnings shall conform to town zoning restrictions.  

(6) New Business inspection (commercial). Any safety inspection of electrical or plumbing 
connections and/or the inspection of the condition of a building prior to the restoration of electrical 
power for occupancy. Fee: Seventy five dollars ($75.00).  

(7) Marine construction. Fishing piers, bulkheads, and dune-walkovers, refer to subsection 13-52(c) 
above for permit fees. These structures may require approval by SCDHEC-Office of Coastal 
Resource Management as a condition to issue and shall comply with town zoning codes.  

(8) Manufactured home fee. Manufactured homes are allowed in the manufactured home park district 
(MH). Fee: one hundred dollars ($100.00). The fee includes inspections for one (1) unit set up, 
supporting foundation, tie downs, and electrical, gas, water, sanitary connections, and any 
exterior HVAC unit. Permits for accessory decks are subject to the fees prescribed by subsection 
13-52(c). Screened enclosures, room additions, and accessory structures are subject to the fees 
prescribed by subsection 13-52(a).  

(9) Temporary occupancy permit fee. One hundred dollars ($100.00). The building official may issue 
a temporary occupancy permit before the completion of the entire work covered by the permit, 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�


Ordinance No. 13-0764 
First Reading: 11/12/2013    

Second Reading:  __________ 
 

Page 3 of 6 
 

provided that such portion or portions shall be occupied safely. The temporary occupancy shall 
be for a period of not more than thirty (30) days, and can be renewed for cause with approval of 
the building official.  

(10) New certificate of occupancy. When the occupancy of any building or structure is changed or 
when a building or structure has been condemned by town council, fee: seventy-five dollars 
($75.00), unless a building permit for renovations or remodeling exceeding fifteen thousand 
dollars ($15,000.00) in construction cost is issued.  

(11) Re-inspection fees for all types of construction. When the building official or his duly authorized 
agent finds upon inspection of completed work that the same does not conform to or comply with 
the provisions of the applicable standard codes or ordinances of the town, he shall notify the 
permit holder of the corrections to be made. The work shall be inspected one (1) additional time 
without further charge to insure the corrections were properly made. However, if the inspector 
determines that extra inspections are necessary for any reason including the following, re-
inspection fees shall be paid in advance prior to each additional re-inspection. Fee: seventy five 
dollars ($75.00).  

Extra inspections may be necessitated when a) A building or improvement is not ready for inspection; b) 
Previously cited violations not corrected; c) Approved plans not on site; and/or d) Access is blocked by 
locks, ladders, equipment, or other impediments, etc.  

(12) Building board appeal. Fee for an appeal to the building board of appeals: One hundred seventy-
five dollars ($175.00).  

Sec. 13-57. - Subdivision filing and review fees. 

Fees for the filing and review of subdivision plats are established by chapter 15 of this Code and are 
provided, in summary, by Table 13-57a below. For additional fees and general requirements, reference 
should be made to chapter 15:  

Table 13-57a 
Subdivision Plat Fees 

Plat/Survey Type Fee 

Preliminary: (Zoning)  

Major Subdivision $175.00 plus $10.00 per lot 

Minor Subdivision $45.00 

Preliminary: (Public Works)  

Major Subdivision $100.00 

Final (Zoning)  

Major Subdivision $175.00 

Minor Subdivision $40.00 

Final (Public Works)  

Major Subdivision $100.00 

Surveys:   

“As Built” Survey $25.00 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH15LADERE.html#VOII_CH15LADERE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH15LADERE.html#VOII_CH15LADERE�


Ordinance No. 13-0764 
First Reading: 11/12/2013    

Second Reading:  __________ 
 

Page 4 of 6 
 

Combination Survey $25.00 
When the plat and/or survey requires corrections or changes and additional fee shall be calculated as 
follows:                          Second review: $35.00 

            Third:                 $30.00 
     Fourth and any subsequent reviews  $25.00 

Sec. 13-60. - Board and commission review fees. 

Pursuant to section 17-212, fees provided in Table 13-60a are established to partially defray costs 
incurred in the administration of the zoning provisions of this Code:  

Table 13-60a 
Board and Commission Review Fees 

Application or Review Type Fee 

Board of Zoning Appeals Applications  

Special Exception $200.00 

Variance $200.00 

Appeal $200.00 

Planning Commission Applications  

Zoning Map and/or text Amendment $250.00 

Planned Development (PD) $350.00** 

Planned Development Amendment $350.00** 

**Subdivision plat fees may also apply (See Table 13-57a). 

 Sec. 13-61. - Administrative review and zoning permit fees. 

Pursuant to section 17-212, fees provided in Table 13-61a are established to partially defray costs 
incurred in the administration of the zoning provisions of this Code:  

Table 13-61a 
Zoning Permits, Certificates and Other Review Fees 

Application or Permit Type Fees 

Zoning Permit (General): 
  (See note 1) 

$25.00 

Zoning Permit 
  (Specific Activity): 

 

Zoning Permit (demolition of structure) $150.00 

Zoning Permit (sidewalks, patios) private 
property  

$30.00  

Zoning Permit (grading, site development, 
landscaping, and irrigation) 

Fee is based on the valuation of improvements. Use Table 13-
52c. 

Zoning Permit (Right of Way 
Encroachment Permit) 

$50.00 (See Note 4) 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR.html#VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR_S17-212FEES�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR.html#VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR_S17-212FEES�


Ordinance No. 13-0764 
First Reading: 11/12/2013    

Second Reading:  __________ 
 

Page 5 of 6 
 

Zoning Permit (fences) $25.00 for fences six (6) feet in height or less; fences 
exceeding six (6) feet in height use Table 13-52c.  A fence, 
regardless of height, to be placed within the shore protection 
line or area requiring a permit by SCDHEC-OCRM (See 
chapter 17, article 8).  

Zoning Permit (manufactured home 
placement) 

$50.00 plus building permit/inspection fee. See section 13-
52(d) (9).  

Zoning Permit (moving any building or 
structure excluding manufactured home 
placement) 

$225.00 plus building permit fee (Building permit to be based 
on valuation of new foundation or other regulated 
improvement on the new site using Table 13-52c).  

Zoning Permit (parking lot construction) $50.00  

Zoning Permit (Signs excluding portable, 
special event, and other temporary signs) 

Fee based on valuation of structure or improvement. Use 
Table 13-52c. 

Zoning Permit (Tree Removal):  

Removal of Required or Regulated Tree $75.00. In cases where a required or regulated tree is 
determined to be dead or diseased, there is no fee for 
removal. (See note 2)  

Thinning or removal of non-required or 
non-regulated trees (4" DBH or greater) 

$5 per tree not to exceed $50 per lot. In cases where a non-
required or non-regulated tree is determined to be dead or 
diseased, there is no fee for removal. (See note 2)  

Pruning (limbs over 4" in diameter) No fee 

Zoning Permit (water well allowed only for 
landscaping and non-consumption 
purposes). 

$20.00 

Certification of Zoning Compliance 
(General) 

$50.00 (See note 3) 

Temporary Certificates of Zoning 
Compliance (See section 17-208) 

 

Carnival, circus, or fair $500.00 

Use of tent, open display, special event 
signs, portable signs, and/or other 
temporary signs 

$30.00 There is no fee if the permit is issued for the grand 
opening of a new business. 

Open lot sales for Christmas trees $100.00 

Temporary real estate office $100.00 

Contractor's office and equipment sheds $100.00 

Manufactured or modular units used as 
temporary business establishments 
during construction of permanent 
structure 

$100.00 

Certificate of Zoning Compliance (re-
inspection fee) 

$50.00 

Zoning Plan Review Fees:  

Commercial Plan Review $75.00 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH17ZO.html#VOII_CH17ZO�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level2/VOII_CH17ZO.html#VOII_CH17ZO�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13.html#VOII_CH13BUBURE_ARTIIIPEFE_DIV2BUPECH13_S13-52BUPEREFE�
http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR.html#VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR_S17-208COTEUS�


Ordinance No. 13-0764 
First Reading: 11/12/2013    

Second Reading:  __________ 
 

Page 6 of 6 
 

Residential Plan Review $50.00 

Note 1: The zoning permit (general) fee applies to activities listed in section 17-203. Where a zoning 
permit fee is provided for a specific activity, the zoning permit (specific) fee shall apply. 
Note 2: Where the tree removal is in conjunction with a project requiring a building permit and a building 
permit has been issued, there is no additional fee for the tree removal permit. 
Note 3: Where a zoning permit is required for a project and a zoning permit has been issued, there is no 
additional fee for the certificate of occupancy. 
Note 4: All right of way encroachment permits must be approved by the Public Works Director or his 
designee prior to issuance.   

 
 SEVERABILITY.  If any provision, clause, sentence, or paragraph of this ordinance or the 
application thereof to any person or circumstances shall be held invalid, that invalidity shall not affect the 
other provisions of this article, which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and 
to this end the provisions of this article are declared to be severable. 
 
 EFFECT OF SECTION HEADINGS.  The headings or titles of the several sections hereof shall 
be solely for convenience of reference and shall not affect the meaning, construction, interpretation or 
effect of this ordinance. 
 
 REPEAL AND EFFECTIVE DATE.  All ordinances or parts of ordinances inconsistent with this 
ordinance are hereby repealed.  This ordinance shall take effect immediately upon approval at second 
reading by the Town Council of the Town of Surfside Beach, South Carolina. 
 
 BE IT ORDERED AND ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Surfside 
Beach, South Carolina, in assembly and by the authority thereof, this ___ day of _______ 2013. 
 

____________________________________ 
Douglas F. Samples, Mayor 

         
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mary Beth Mabry, Mayor Pro Tempore    Ann Dodge, Town Council    
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Mark L. Johnson, Town Council       Elizabeth A. Kohlmann, Town Council 
 
_______________________________________ ______________________________________ 
Roderick E. Smith, Town Council   Randle M. Stevens, Town Council  
     
 
 
       Attest: 
 
       ______________________________________ 
       Debra E. Herrmann, CMC, Town Clerk 

http://library.municode.com/HTML/14100/level4/VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR.html#VOII_CH17ZO_ARTIIAD_DIV1GEPR_S17-203ZOPERE�

	11122013_tc_agenda_7biii_police.pdf
	SBPD monthly report OCT 2013
	OCT 2013 Attachments




